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Tuesday, November 27, 2007

--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.


MR. FAYE:  Good morning, everyone.  This is the technical conference for Enersource Hydro Mississauga's application.


We will start by taking appearances.  I am Peter Faye, Board counsel.  With me is Mr. Rudra Mukherji.  Perhaps if we could start at the Enersource side of the room and work our way around.  Kathi?

Appearances


MS. LITT:  Kathi Litt, Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran, counsel for Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. WOLFF:  Norman Wolff, Enersource.


MR. HERMAN:  Roland Herman, chief operating officer, Enersource.


MR. MACUMBER:  James Macumber, Enersource.


MR. BONADIE:  John Bonadie, Enersource.


MR. FAYE:  Just continue around from that position onwards.


MS. PINCHIS:  My name is Mona Pinchis.


MR. FAYE:  Could you put on your microphone on?


MS. PINCHIS:  My name is Mona Pinchis.  I am here to observe, but I am with Ogilvy Renault.


MR. FAYE:  Representing who?


MR. SHEPHERD:  She is with Ogilvy Renault.  


MR. MACDONALD:  Colin MacDonald with PowerStream.  We're intervenors in the proceeding.  


MR. AINSLIE:  Kimble F. Ainslie for Energy Probe.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Mike Buonaguro for VECC, and hopefully Bill Harper, our consultant will join us or replace me at some point.


MS. GIRVAN:  This one is broken; right?  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams, AMPCO.

Procedural matters


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  The schedule we propose today is to attempt to get through the technical conference in one day, and if that is possible to accomplish, the ADR session would start tomorrow and go through Friday, if necessary.


If there is a settlement arrived at, that would be filed by December 10th in accordance with the Procedural Order No. 2.  The settlement will be presented to the Panel on December 17th, and then any further matters that need to go to oral hearing would be scheduled for sometime in January.


We've had a couple of requests to schedule the lunch break today from one to two to accommodate people who have other commitments.  If there is no objections to that, that's how we will proceed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that is actually not good.  A couple of us are going to this lunch with Howard, which I think starts at 12:15, right, and will go probably to two.  So our preference is to have the lunch break coincide with his lunch, since he is the boss.


MR. FAYE:  If you have finished your questions, would you necessarily need to be here for the...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wouldn't object if you wanted to continue in my absence, no.


MR. FAYE:  My concern is if we take a two-hour break, we may not get through this today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


MR. FAYE:  Let's see how we do up until the point at which -- is there anyone else in the same position as 

Mr. Shepherd?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Just a sec.  Yes, I am going as well, but if Jay is done and I haven't gone, Bill Harper can be here between one and two to fill in.  So...


MR. FAYE:  Is Bill available past two o'clock?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  I think he has another meeting, but we don't have as many questions.  But if for some reason we don't get to me and we break, he is tied up in the morning, and then he is available one to two, and then he has to leave again.  But I will be back after two.  It is more Jay you should be concerned about.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  Let's proceed on the basis that we will work up to the point at which Mr. Shepherd has to leave, and hopefully we will have accommodated his questions at that point.


I am proposing that we continue with the examination from other intervenors until one o'clock, take our lunch break from one to two.  I know that is going to inconvenience Mr. Harper, but if we do it any other way, it is going to inconvenience a couple of other people in the room who have got commitments from one to two.


So if you are available to come back and represent those questions after 2 o'clock, we can still get them in.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. FAYE:  How does that sound?  Everybody agreeable to that, then?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  The order of examination.  

Mr. Shepherd has volunteered to go first, and considering that he has probably the most comprehensive questions list, it may be in everybody's interest to have him do that and that might eliminate other people's questions from the agenda, shorten the proceeding a little bit.  Is there any problem with that?


Hearing none, we will assume that the order of examination will be Mr. Shepherd first.


Enersource has advised that they have an opening statement to make, and I would like to just go round the room quickly and take an estimate of time required so that we can just check whether we're going to make it or not.


Mr. Moran, have you got an estimate of the time required for Enersource's statement?


MR. MORAN:  It will be like about five or ten minutes.  It not really an opening statement.  It is --


MR. HERMAN:  We could actually skip it if time is an issue.


MR. MORAN:  It is three topics that we just wanted to provide an overview on, and then get into the questioning, but that wouldn't take more than five or ten minutes at the most, anyway.


MR. HERMAN:  I would even suggest we just get into the questions and hear about the time issues.


MR. MORAN:  Sure.  So we are prepared to skip that and deal with it in the course of the questioning, if time is starting to look tight.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  Unless what remarks you make might shorten the questioning, if you would feel it would aid the proceeding.


MR. HERMAN:  I think the comments can be dealt with when we get to the specific questions.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Jay, how much time do you think you are going to need?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no idea, because I don't know how extensive the answers are.  I will probably be a couple of hours.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Mr. Adams, any estimates?


MR. ADAMS:  Half an hour.


MR. FAYE:  Julie?


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, not very long.  I haven't seen my answers yet, though.  I am just reading them now.


MR. FAYE:  Should I say a half hour?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Less, probably.


MR. FAYE:  Counsel for VECC?


MR. BUONAGURO:  It looks like half an hour to an hour, depending on how these are answered.


MR. FAYE:  The Board, depending upon how many of our questions are answered by other responses, I would think a couple of hours should do us.  So that adds up to two, four, possibly six hours here.  That sounds like we can do that in one day.


Next order of business is that we need to have Enersource file their responses and we will give them exhibit numbers.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  We have two binders with everything that's provided.  I think you might have a copy of the binders here, so we have two more for the record.


I don't know what the most efficient way is for doing this, but perhaps we could give a separate technical conference exhibits to each set of questions.  Maybe that is the easiest way.  We've got five documents, one for Schools, one for AMPCO, one for CCC and one for VECC and the Board Staff.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  I will just take the bundles that I have in the order that they happen to be sitting here.  The first one is VECC, and we will assign that number TC VECC 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just interrupt?  There is actually a rule for numbering.


MR. FAYE:  Oh.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we might as well --


MR. MORAN:  Follow the rule.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- start at the beginning correctly.  Technical conference is JTA, for first day.  So JTA.1, .2, et cetera, I think.  Is that correct?


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Something like that.


MR. FAYE:  JTA.1 would be --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, not J; K.  J is undertakings.  K is exhibits.  KTA.1.


MR. FAYE:  KTA.1.  Okay, KTA.1 will be VECC's technical conference issues.  KTA.2 will be AMPCO.  KTA.3 will be Consumers Council of Canada.  KTA.4 will be the Board.

EXHIBIT NO. KTA.1:  VECC MATERIALS.

EXHIBIT NO. KTA.2:
 AMPCO MATERIALS

EXHIBIT NO. KTA.3:  CONSUMERS COUNCIL OF CANADA MATERIALS

EXHIBIT NO. KTA.4:  BOARD MATERIALS


MR. FAYE:  We don't have Schools here.  Oh.  KTA.5 will be Schools.

EXHIBIT NO. KTA.5:  SCHOOLS MATERIALS


MR. MORAN:  We have reproduced all of the questions in each of those documents and indicated which ones don't have a written answer, so it is a complete set of questions and some of them are answered in writing.


MR. FAYE:  So everything in this package, Mr. Moran, is that, and there is nothing in here that isn't in there?


MR. MORAN:  That's correct.  There are a number of documents that were indicated as attachments and so on, but they're all referenced in the exhibits we just gave out.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  Any other procedural matters that I have forgotten?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just wanted to make one comment.  You mentioned earlier that the ADR starts on the Wednesday and goes through Friday.  But I think, as we have previously noted, three of us - Julie, Bill and myself - are previously committed to the third generation IRM workshop all day on Thursday.  So we will be here Wednesday and Friday, but I don't know what you want to do on Thursday, but it may be more difficult to do an ADR with three of the parties not here.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Or easier.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or easier, right.


MS. GIRVAN:  I think the procedural order presumes that.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it does.  So I just wanted to clarify that.


MR. FAYE:  I will correct the record, then, that ADR will be the 28th and 30th, but not the 29th.


Anything else?  If there is nothing else, then perhaps we can proceed with Enersource's opening statement, if you have one, followed by Mr. Shepherd's examination.
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Presentation by Mr. Herman


MR. HERMAN:  I thought we were going to skip it, but yes, I just jotted down a few remarks late last night.


We have received your questions.  We did our best to respond, with great difficulty.  We apologize that the responses may not be totally complete or perfect, but we are not resourced to respond to this kind of gruelling process.


Not to make excuses, but we do have serious staffing issues in some areas that were desperately needed for this exercise.  Some in fact, although they worked all weekend, were on other assignments, as our business doesn't stop.


Having said this, we will do our best to deal with your issues today, and to respond to issues verbally where we have not fully dealt with them in written form, and to take undertakings where necessary.


It is our hope that today we can zero in on the issues that you have serious concerns with, as opposed to questioning everything.


We sense, from your questions, that you have certain suspicions around our corporate structure and cost allocations, and we think we can deal with that and lots of other capital programs, IT projects and horizon costs driven by the need for new positions.


The cornerstones of our business are reliability, customer service and safety.  These are the things that drive all of our spending decisions.


Our shareholders have been patient.  They have not yet seen a regulated rate of return, and yet they continue to approve budgets with lower-than-expected returns and yet authorize spending required to maintain high standards of reliability, customer service and safety.


As chief operating officer, I can assure you that we do not budget for projects that we do not plan on doing, or budget for positions that we do not plan on filling.  And it is my job to protect the wires company from any possible attempt to subsidize non-regulated activities.


We are an honest organization.  Everything we do is for our customers.  We believe that we deliver the most essential service on earth and that our rates -- the rates that our customers are asked to pay for this service – are fair, reasonable and competitive.  


Now, we are ready for your questions.  


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Shepherd, you can proceed.

Questions by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I'm starting with the questions sent to you, what you would call the second set.  I sent a first set, you will recall, by e-mail on the 14th, when you requested you get a heads-up on some of them.  Some of those are duplicated, so what I am going to do is start with the full set, and then I will go back and catch up on anything that was in the previous one, if that is all right with you.


The first is, if you refer to --


MR. MORAN:  Sorry to interrupt.  I just wanted to make it, just for the purposes of the record, indicate we were operating on the assumption that the second set you sent us was a consolidated set, so we weren't aware that there might be some that might have been dropped.  We took the second set as a consolidated version of the first one, plus some additional ones.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess some of your answers --


MR. MORAN:  We can deal with this as we go along.  If there is anything that is not answered, it's not answered, obviously, and that is why we're here today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's fine, but I guess I don't understand why, then, you have some answers that are called "other questions asked by e-mail on November 16th".


MR. MORAN:  We may have picked up a couple of those, but that was our operating assumptions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the first reference is to Schools Interrogatory No. 4, which is on page 6 of 69 of Exhibit J, schedule D.  We asked you to file the audited financial statements and the annual report, and I have seen the audited financial statements -- which you provided to us, thank you -- and you provided the management's summary.  What you didn't file is the annual report.  So I wonder if you could undertake to provide copies of the annual report.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, what are you still looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The annual report.


MR. MORAN:  The annual report.  Yes, we can undertake that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is JTA.1.  

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.1:  TO PROVIDE ENERSOURCES ANNUAL REPORT


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next question relates to Exhibit J, schedule D, page 7, in which you filed part of the strategic plan but not all of the strategic plan.  And your answer, your written answer, provides that you didn't have the resources to provide it in time.


Now you have in fact, by e-mail, provided us with some of this document but not all of it yet.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  We've provided you with the complete document.  You are correct in the response to the undertaking; you did not get the complete strategic plan, and when you identified that at the procedural meeting, I indicated I would follow up on that, and you now have the strategic plan that you requested.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The document you provided starts with page 3-8?


MR. MORAN:  That's right, and it is the complete strategic plan as you requested it.


MR. HERMAN:  For the wires company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I would like to see what whole document.


MR. MORAN:  We're not going to provide it, because it doesn't have any bearing on this case.  As we indicated, I think, to you through communications by e-mail, the strategic plan was part of a number of presentations on a number of issues, and you have received the strategic plan.  You've got it, and you are free to answer -- you know, follow=up on any questions you may have on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The document you provided -- which, by the way, you haven't provided here, so I don't have it on the record yet.  All I have is the e-mail you sent me -- nobody else has it.  The document you provided, as I understand that, that's the portion of the Enersource Corporation's strategic plan that relates to the utility.  Is that right?


MR. MORAN:  It's the strategic plan for Enersource Hydro Mississauga, as it indicates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask the question of you, 

Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, I thought we were still 

discussing --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, your witness has answered the question.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is the utility part of the Enersource Corporation's strategic plan?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The rest of the document is the whole strategic plan?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes, and would related more to non-regulated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.  So that is a refusal to provide that document?


MR. HERMAN:  Oh, I thought we did, so --


MR. MORAN:  I think we're saying we have answered that question.  We have provided the document that you have requested, and that's all we're doing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked for the whole document.  You're not going to give me the whole document?


MR. MORAN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.


The next question is -- you will, by the way, file the document you did provide?


MR. MORAN:  Yes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's JTA.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.2:  TO PROVIDE utility PORTION of Enersource Corporation's strategic plan


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit J, schedule D, page 10, you referred to an agreement with Enerpower.  This is School Energy Interrogatory No. 8.  So can you provide that agreement and the shareholders' agreement that you refer to there?


MR. MORAN:  I think there is only one agreement referred to, not two, and that's the shareholder agreement in the answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you paid Enerpower $7.6 million for construction work; right?  That is an affiliate.


MR. HERMAN:  It's not an affiliate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a 10 percent-owned company?


MR. WOLFF:  For the definition of the ARC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not an affiliate.  It is an associate, actually, in corporate law terms.  


So we have asked for the agreement with respect to that construction loan.  Is there such an agreement?


MR. WOLFF:  With respect to the construction work only, or the actual shareholders agreement?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will get to the shareholders agreement.  You paid $7.6 million for construction work.  Presumably there was an agreement with respect to it.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Herman can provide an explanation for the relationship between Enerpower and Enersource Hydro Mississauga, which is what I think you are getting at.  He is here, so he can certainly provide the explanation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be useful.


MR. HERMAN:  One of the suppliers that we dealt with on a very regular basis, they tended to win most of the tenders for things like rebuilds and offers to connect.  So they proposed a partnership arrangement where we could make things a lot smoother, we could work together a little better, in order to make bids like for these offers to connect.  They proposed that they would set up a company called Enerpower and that if that company made any profits, we would receive 10 percent of it.  So it helps us.  So the wires company now has another source of income that it can use to lower rates, although the dollar value is very small.  The concept is good, though.  It is interesting.  Now --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  But Enerpower only gets paid by the wires company if it wins a bid, an open tender?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  If a developer is coming into the city and is going to develop something, and we are going to make an offer to connect, we don't do that kind of work at Enersource.  So now we have this sort of partner, in the sense that they estimate the job and we bid that, and, if we are successful, then Enerpower does the work.  So the competitive aspect is there, but it's in the hands of the developer as opposed to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The developer pays Enerpower?


MR. HERMAN:  The developer would be --


MR. MACUMBER:  If I could just comment on the economic evaluation, what would happen is a developer would need to build like a subdivision.  They would come to us and say, You have to be able to provide power.  We would go through the numbers.  Enerpower would give the quote for the work.  We would supply to the developer their estimate of how much they would have to contribute.  If a -- if they have to contribute some, they have the option to go get another quote from another developer or another company to build the infrastructure.  So we're only using it for the offer to connects to give us a quote on how much it would cost to do the job for the developer.  So the developer, actually, is the one that has the option.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess what -- it appeared from the source of this particular piece of information, it appeared that Enersource paid Enerpower $7.6 million.


MR. MACUMBER:  To do offer-to-connect work.  So it would be an offer to connect for a developer.  The developer chooses Enersource to do the work.  Enerpower would do the work.  We would pay Enerpower for the work we had performed, and then do the economic evaluation at the end.  So we would cut a PO each time that an offer to connect was accepted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so the developer pays you or may pay you something?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, they don't pay until -- they may have a deposit required, but, at the end of it, when we do the economic evaluation, at that point it is determined how much the developer needs to pay us or contribute to the capital spend.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're just outsourcing your connection work to --


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- a sole-source supplier who has -- you have a long relationship with?


MR. HERMAN:  It is actually not sole-sourced, just to clarify that.  We try to do most of it through Enerpower, because it is very effective and the process goes very smoothly, but we also go out with our fees to sort of keep them honest.  So our others do bid on it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. HERMAN:  Everything is done through PO.  It is not one big agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, all right.  So this $7.6 million isn't a project.  This is a whole bunch of connection work over the year that has a bunch of POs behind it, but doesn't have a formal agreement?


MR. HERMAN:  Exactly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, okay.  But you do have a shareholders agreement?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we get that?


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.


MR. FAYE:  JTA.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.3:  TO PROVIDE SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to speed up as I get into the rhythm.  Exhibit J, schedule D, page 11, which is School Interrogatory No. 9, in your answer you referred to the 2007 budget for Enersource Corporation.  We asked you, could you provide that?  I don't think you have.


Can you do that?  Your written answer says you are unable to provide it due to limited time and resources, which I understand.


MR. MORAN:  Jay, I am just wondering if you could indicate why you need the budget for Enersource Corporation.  I understand why you would want to see the budget for Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  We're not sure what why you need the budget for the corporation for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess you filed the capital spending budget, so I just want to track it back, the capital spending.


MR. MORAN:  The capital spending budget is for Hydro, not for Corporation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess we had two different capital spending numbers; that's the problem.  You filed two different capital spending numbers, and your answer to the interrogatory is, Well, one of them is Enersource Corporation and the other is Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. MACUMBER:  If I can interject here.  The report that you are referring to is DBRS's report.  So when they come in to do our credit rating, they have to see the corporation in total.  You were referencing --


MR. SHEPHERD:  A-12-5 is the DBRS rating?


MR. MACUMBER:  That is what you were quoting, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You know, I withdraw the question.  In JD.12, we asked for the prepayment formula for the Borealis bonds, and you have provided us with the prospectus supplement, which includes some information on that.  This is a prospectus supplement because you had a shell prospectus already filed; is that right?


MR. HERMAN:  We had a prospectus, and this was the first sort of tranche.  I guess they call it the first tranche of a bunch, in anticipation of more that never happened.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  All right.  So these bonds are 6.27 percent due May 2011.  Correct me if I'm wrong.  The way the prepayment works is that you can basically prepay any time you want, but you have to buy the interest rate differential between now and maturity.  You have to discount the interest rate differential between long Canadas plus 15 basis points, and the face rate on the bond, take that difference, discount it back and pay that as a -- like a bonus to get out of the obligation?


MR. WOLFF:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right?  Do you know how much that is?  Is it a lot?


MR. WOLFF:  Not off the top of my head, but, at the end of the day, to do that, we would end up paying for interest twice, so to speak.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?


MR. WOLFF:  Well, if you discount the interest payments, presumably whatever discount rate is going to be used will be similar to whatever new bond issue we would require to pay out the existing tranche.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. WOLFF:  And as it is discounted back, we would end up having to refinance that interest repayment and, therefore, pay interest on it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But you would also be paying lower interest on your $290 million.  It should work out even; right?


MR. WOLFF:  Presumably, depending on whatever interest rate the new debt attracts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you could borrow today at long Canadas plus 15, which is the base in this prepayment clause, then the result would be -- should be essentially identical, whether you prepay or not?


MR. WOLFF:  Best case scenario, it would be identical.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you considered locking in the current low rates now, rather than waiting to 2011 and take your chances at renewal rates?


MR. WOLFF:  So you mean extending beyond 2011?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  You would prepay, right, with the result that you're still paying 6.27 in effect until 2011, but if you borrowed today at 5, say, or 5.2, you've got that for as long as you can get the bond, 20 years if you want, right?


MR. WOLFF:  No, at this time we haven't considered a refinancing of our debt.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  In Exhibit J, schedule D, page 13, we were referring to the DBRS rating report.  We wanted you to tell us where those -- the numbers they had came from, because obviously they've calculated your OM&A per customer, and you said you didn't do these calculations.  You don't know where they got the numbers.  I take that to be what you're saying.  


So can you tell us what your OM&A per customer, from your point of view what you think it is for 2006, 2007 and 2008, three years that DBRS says?


MR. MORAN:  We can undertake to provide that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is to calculate OM&A per customer for each of 2006, 2007 and 2008.  That's basically it, and obviously we're then going to compare that to the DBRS numbers.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.4:  TO PROVIDE OM&A PER CUSTOMER FOR 2006, 2007, 2008


MR. SHEPHERD:  On Exhibit J – that, by the way, is JTA.4 that we have just said.


Exhibit J, schedule D, page 15.  The rating agency had a quote which is:

"Enersource's residential and commercial distribution rates are among the lowest in the province".

We asked you to provide evidence of that, and you said you didn't know the source of the quote.


So we have now quoted you.  The source of the quote is your 2006 annual report, where your president says: 

"Notably, we are also one of the lowest-cost electricity distributors in Ontario."


So can you please provide whatever evidence you have to support that statement?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  We draw -- our evidence is something we rely on heavily, and that's the MEARIE survey.  MEARIE has made the survey confidential.  We have all had to agree and sign that we can't release this thing, because the utilities are sensitive about seeing their names on this thing and where they stand.


So it is there, we use it, but we are obligated to keep it confidential, so it puts us in a very awkward spot in terms of providing evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, although the rules of the Board are that if something is confidential, your option is, you can file it in confidence.  What you can't do is say I'm not going to file it.  I think, Pat, you will agree that's what the rules are, right?


MR. MORAN:  If there is something that is required by the Board for the purposes of making a decision, and it has a confidential element to it, yes, the rules are in place to handle that, certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am asking you --


MR. MORAN:  We're not sure if the MEARIE report is something that is essential to the Enersource application, so we're not sure why you would need it.


You have asked for, you know, the basis for some quotes, and we have indicated that that is what it is.  It's a snapshot in time, and that's done by MEARIE and it is done based on inputs from a number of different LDCs.  We can't guarantee the accuracy, obviously, of what everyone else put in, so I am not sure what probative value it has in the long term for the purpose of this rates case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I am asking you to file that survey in confidence.


MR. MORAN:  We can't.  Enersource has said that it would keep it confidential, so were not permitted to file it.  And I guess if you want to take it further, I guess you can.


MR. FAYE:  Would Enersource be willing to file that document with only its name identified, and everything else blacked out except the comparative numbers?


MR. MORAN:  Maybe what we can undertake to do is we will take it up with MEARIE and see what is possible, all right.  So we will look into it and report back.  How is that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be very useful, yes.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.5:  TO PROVIDE REDACTED VERSION OF MEARIE REPORT, SUBJECT TO CONSULTATION WITH MEARIE


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  In Exhibit J, schedule D, page 16, in your answer you said that - if I can paraphrase - that the rate on your bond issue wasn't affected by the fact that you had unregulated businesses.  Is that a fair paraphrase?


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So why do you think that?  What evidence do you have to support that?


MR. WOLFF:  Well, in -- at the time the bond issue was initiated in May of 2001, we essentially had very little non-regulated businesses.  So therefore, based at the analysis at the time, there wasn't, you know, a large opportunity to include any analysis, because the businesses didn't exist.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you recall what were long Canadas like then?


MR. WOLFF:  No, I don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were you there at the time that this financing was done?


MR. WOLFF:  I was not, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So those unregulated businesses came later because you already had the bond issue set.


MR. WOLFF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It didn't affect them?  You have since gotten rid of most of them, those unregulated businesses?


MR. WOLFF:  A good portion of them, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are back to pretty close to where you, to pure, where you were before?  


MR. WOLFF:  Relatively, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In Exhibit J, schedule D, page 17, you were asked to provide -- this is a standard question that we ask in every cost-of-service hearing: give us your budget memo.  Because normally in most large organizations, the budget process starts with a memo from management saying here is the assumptions you use.  Here is the -- here is how the process is for doing your annual budget.


You have answered, saying you don't have anything like that.  There is no policy statements, paperwork of any sort relating to your budgeting process.


So I guess, can you describe how your budgeting process works, if you don't have any paper?


MR. WOLFF:  Okay.


MR. MACUMBER:  Do you want to -- you have started the high level, then I –-


[Panel confers]


MR. WOLFF:  Notwithstanding, we don't have a formal budget document put together.  However, the way we develop our budget is very consistent from year to year.


We begin with providing an analysis document to each departmental manager, and that document provides prior-year actuals, provides for the current year's budget, the current year's forecast, and then the following budget proposal from each department.


Utilizing that information, and once the individual managers have provided that information and it's filled out by payroll for all the appropriate people at the existing salaries, taking into account any progressions and that sort, the filled-out worksheets come back to the finance group, where finance compiles the information.  And that forms the basis of our costs for the following budget year.  


Those costs are reviewed by our, what we call our budget committee, which is comprised of the CEO, the COO, and the CFO, and any specific anomalies or specific trends are identified and the managers are questioned on it.


If the questions are answered appropriately and then it's, I guess, you know, understood that it's a requirement of the business.


From there, we begin to develop our revenue budgets.  Our revenue budgets are based on forecast of consumption that -- we've detailed the process in here.  And any other business requirements outside of these, I guess, manager department requirements that have already been identified, those are all brought together.


From there, we develop a forecast and a budget, income statement balance sheet and cash flow.  Those again are brought forward in front of the budget committee for review.


Any anomalies are pointed out, investigated and brought back for approval by the budget committee.


When the budget committee has determined that the income statement balance sheet and cash flows reflect an appropriate proposal to be brought forward to the audit committee and the board of directors, and then it is prepared for presentation to the audit committee.  The audit committee goes through it, goes through another round of looking at the numbers, ensuring that it meets business requirements and ensuring that -- you know, of customers and the shareholders respectively.


Following the audit committee review it goes to the board of directors.  The board of directors undertake the same process, with the understanding that the audit committee has done a detailed analysis and received a recommendation from the audit committee regarding the budget.


Then the board provides comments and any revisions they deem necessary, and then it is approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's very helpful.  Let me ask two questions about that.  The time frame of this -- is it starts in the summer?


MR. MACUMBER:  I am just going to jump in.


We start with the date that the board is going to review and approve the budget and we work backwards, because all of the schedules and backup requirements, capital spending, depreciation, everything has to be compiled.  So we start working backwards from that date.


Usually on a typical year - this year was a bit unique considering that we had to supply earlier - we would start in about the second week of July.  We would use June actuals, and each business unit would be created from the general ledger.


We would take the actuals, go through each --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.


MR. MACUMBER:  Sorry.  So we would start about the second week in July, compile the data with HR for each head count and the actuals to year to date, June.  We would send out the files.


We would give the managers about three weeks to go through their historical trends, their forecasts and expenses for the following year.  They would send back the file mid-August.  Finance would compile it.  By the end of August, we would have a first draft of OM&A expenses.  


The capital expenditures would be built off of the system capacity report.  That would be sent down to finance with any other non distribution-type capital.  We would add it all together, forecast out amortization and CIAC, every other piece to it, to the budget.  


For revenue, we would take consumption, as we have discussed, and we multiply it by the current rates that we currently have and any assumptions that we believe are going to be changed in rates.


As Norm mentioned, we then build up our first draft of our income statement, balance sheet and cash flow to match to the operating budgets and the capital, and then we send it out for commentary from the budget committee.


So that would be probably near -- the first draft would probably be near the end of September.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My second question is the starting point of this process is something that you deliver to the departments.  It sounds like you delivered sort of a model with assumptions built in; is that right?  Is this like the EDR model; fill in the spreadsheet?


MR. MACUMBER:  The actual spreadsheet, we use J.D. Edwards, so there is individual account line items and we set up a business unit.  So single account line item has either actual spends or budgeted spends for previous years' budget.


So we compile that from the system and from previous years' files.  Then this file has head count, salary dollars, any other type of control or accountable type of expenses for that manager.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to get at here is there has to be some way that you communicate assumptions like average wage increases and stuff like that, because these are sort of at a corporate level.  Your individual managers don't decide what --


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay.  So for the head-count sheets, the first part is to deal with HR.  For the union-type employees, their progressions or their increases are built into the union contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.


MR. MACUMBER:  So we build that into the files for the managers.  They don't have to go to the union contract.  We build it in for them.


Then for union staff, it is when -- we base it on the estimated increase that we believe people will get or if we know that people's job levels are increasing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Very good.  That's very helpful.


I am going to go to Exhibit J, schedule D, page 19.  You have provided a written answer to this; is that right?  You provided a written answer to this?


MR. WOLFF:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then I am now at Exhibit J, tab D, page 31.  This is what we asked for you to provide, the original business case for your SCADA system.


You have answered saying that you don't have it anymore; is that right?  Whatever you had then, you don't have anymore?


MR. HERMAN:  The money that we have spent recently on SCADA was merely an upgrade on SCADA, and that's why there is no business case.  With any system, you have these versions that come out every year, and then periodically you have a larger upgrade.  And you have to keep up or you don't have vendor support anymore.  So this is merely an upgrade for this, essentially.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but you did buy a SCADA system some years ago?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You made some assumptions about when you would have to spend more money on it and what sort of benefits you would get from it, and those assumptions should be built into your original business case.  So that is what we're looking for, so that we can track and say, Okay, now we're in 2008, what did you assume was going to happen in 2008 when you spent this money originally?  That's why we're looking for it.


You don't have a document like that?


MR. HERMAN:  The only answer, we can keep looking, but that was a long time ago.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't want you to go to a lot of trouble.  If it is not readily available, then I don't want you to go into the archives, but if you do have it readily available, we would like to see it.


MR. HERMAN:  I believe it was about ten years ago, at least.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I will withdraw it.


The next question references JD-32, the attachment.  You have referred us to the source of the numerical data that we have asked for.  I will accept that as a full response.


Then the next refers JD-33.  You have provided us in JD-33 with a project description of the integrated operating model, but we had asked for the business case.  We haven't seen that and your written answer doesn't provide it.


MR. HERMAN:  You know, there are certain things, for the nature of our business, we don't do the, I guess, the traditional business cases.  It's more of the sort of a need for reliability and safety.  If a product exists, you know, we want our control room people to have the benefit of this method of operating.


It's not a case of justifying if we spent X amount of dollars, we will get this back over a number of years.  We couldn't tell our control room operators this is available.  We know you need it, but we're not going to give it to you.  We're going to let you keep pinning these things on maps and hoping they don't fall off.  


It is not the traditional business case to us.  We are driven by the reliability aspect of it and the safety.  We know this thing is needed.  Our engineers are telling us it is needed.  Our control room people are saying it is needed.  The suppliers are saying it exists.  So we're more driven by that kind of thing:  Can we afford this and can we get it in?


It's not the traditional business case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I hear what you're saying.  I guess my concern is, having worked with engineers over many years, is engineers always want the latest toy and sometimes you have to be willing to say "no" to them.


So, normally, the reason why you have business cases is so that you distinguish between the latest toy and something that really is needed.


I am wondering what sort of analysis you go through, then, to distinguish between those two.


MR. HERMAN:  Well, like I said, we don't do it in the formal sense of business case, but there is a lot of thinking behind it and things we go through to get -- for me to get convinced that we're going to need this thing and go ahead with it, and for our CEO to be convinced and our finance people.


We've got a lot of people in the room.  The VP of engineering and operations is, you know, making a passionate plea for this thing and the people that -- his engineers that run the SCADA system, the engineers that run our AM/FM, are all together in the room explaining why we need this thing.


And you know, we don't just give it to them because it is the latest toy.  We go through an awful lot of rigour around this thing, because we find IT, anything related to IT is problematic in terms of disruption and the effect on our people's system are very difficult.  We're not a huge company and we don't have huge IT departments, so we're very leery about IT projects and they don't get through easily.  But we believe that we really need this thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next question refers to the same interrogatory, JD-33.  The question is:  Please provide a copy of the agreement with Toronto Hydro providing for the sharing of the costs of the CIS.


MR. HERMAN:  The only reason this isn't here is that the agreement is actually still in the works and has not been signed.  But also, it's not sort of a serious aspect of the project, because of the way this project is structured.


We have a very clear understanding with Toronto Hydro what we're doing.  We're for the most part each paying for our own costs.


There is a little bit of sharing on certain aspects of the program, but the real sharing and benefits come from having two large companies working on the same system.  We've got better licensing fees, far cheaper than Enersource could have gotten alone.  We each have our teams working together, so we need less resources than we would otherwise have needed.


If there is any customization required, it is shared, again saving us money.  In the future, if anything changes in the industry and the system has to be changed to meet those requirements, they will be shared.  So you know, all around it's -- we think it is a very good deal.  But the actual details of the sharing were not totally finalized.  There are some things that are involved at this time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is an $8 million obligation -- or $11 million, I guess, actually.  Right?  You have cost overruns and you're at eleven now?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  But most of the dollars are clear.  For example, we each pay for our own licence.  We don't put them in a file and share them.  We each pay our own bills.  We each pay for our own staff.  We each pay for our own accommodation.  We are each paying sort of our own way as we go.  So there are just a few things where we're resolving some sharing arrangements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the status of the agreement right now?


MR. HERMAN:  It's actually very close.  It could be another three days.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am wondering if you can undertake to provide it as soon as possible.  Obviously, if it is close to being done --


MR. HERMAN:  As soon as possible.  I have checked with Toronto, and we can provide it as soon as it is ready.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  JTA.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.6:  TO PROVIDE The executed contract with respect to cost sharing arrangements with Toronto Hydro, as it relates to the CIS project


MR. FAYE:  Could we just repeat what we're providing under JTA.6, please?


MR. MORAN:  The executed contract with respect to cost sharing arrangements with Toronto Hydro, as it relates to the CIS project, I guess, for want of a better description.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the next question relates to the existing CIS.  I guess we talked about this a little bit in the informal meeting, so I am sort of getting stuff on the record now.


Your existing CIS, you haven't had it that long, and it hasn't been supported by the vendor for -- since almost shortly after you bought it.


So I wonder if you could just give us a brief description on the record of what happened with that CIS and why you have this problem.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  I believe it's about eight years now, eight years ago that we purchased what we thought was the best system we could get.  It was at least in the top three.  Most of the companies that were looking for CIS systems were zeroing in on three companies.  The one we thought was the best was Orcom and we thought it would be sold to other utilities in Ontario.  That's always a key aspect of systems.  They only stick around and support it if they have a number of customers. 


Unfortunately we were the only one that wound up buying it, and they changed their strategy shortly after we bought it to become only an ASP provider.  We were not happy with that.  We were especially not happy with the rates they wanted for that.  We were unwilling to pay.  Essentially we broke away from them and the only choice we had was to keep the system going on our own, and with the help of people that formerly worked for Orcom but were also leaving.  They were going off to other companies, and we tracked these people and kept them available to us.


We have been fortunate.  All of these years, we still have those original people who designed the Orcom system who are still working for us.  They're just with other companies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Okay.  Next question relates to JD, page 39 and 40.  This relates to the new CIS.  You have advised that you plan to put this in CCA class 10, maybe -- I don't actually have the note here as to which class you are putting it in -- instead of class 12, which is the class that everybody else puts their CIS in.  I am wondering why you are different.


MR. MACUMBER:  We assumed it to be a system software that would have an extended life beyond one year.  Class 12 would depreciate over one year, which we didn't feel is appropriate for something we wouldn't be changing every year, or every two years.


So under the class 10, one of them says "System software".  So we assumed, to try to match to our depreciation rate of five years, that that would be the appropriate class to put it in.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you taken any external advice on this?  Your answer, by the way, is incorrect.  It's not system software.  It's application software, and because it is -- application software it is in class 12.  So I am wondering, did you get external advice on this?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  We assumed that due to the length of it and because it's a billing software and not just an application, but it's a system to bill our customers.  That's why we assumed it was a system software.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You need to get advice, because everybody else puts it in class 12.  Every other utility that I know in the province is using class 12.  There is a substantial benefit, all right, a substantial tax benefit.


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.  But then I guess what you're asking me for is to say that this billing system over the 10 years, should be written off in one year and -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- actually, because of the half year rule you get 50 percent in the first year -- 


MR. MACUMBER:  Fair enough, but that would mean that I wouldn't have that -- if it goes into software, then I am going to actually -- should depreciate it then, as well, over two years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  No, because your accounting rule has to be the useful life.  Right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Fair enough.  But I am just saying, because we are assuming that it's an application software and we are saying it is a real system to do our billing, that's why we put it there.  We can get somebody's opinion on it, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The next question is based on JD 41(c).  You were asked here to provide -- to explain the variances between budget and actual capital costs for conventional meters and wholesale meters.  You provided a written response on this.  I haven't had a chance to read this, but subject to check, I am going to accept this as your response.  You have intended to answer the full question with this?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  I think so.  When we read your follow-up question, we were trying to figure out what was missing from the original answer, and I think perhaps, when -- in the original answer, you may not have noted that there are two kinds of meter upgrades.  There is a full installation, as referenced in the question, and then an upgrade only.  The answer explains why the numbers are different on that basis.


If you need to understand that more, we can certainly follow up with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be around this afternoon and I will have read it by then.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, over lunch.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, over lunch.  No, don't tell Howard.  He will be upset.  

Question 18 refers to JD-45, section B.  What we're asking for here is what forecasts you've had of the effect of demand response on your peak demand.  Your capital spending is driven primarily by peak demand; right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You must do forecasts of peak demand, and we have seen them.  The increasing importance of demand response should have some impact on peak demand.  That's what it's for; right?  So what I am trying to get at is:  What forecasts do you have that show how demand response will reduce your peak demand?


MR. HERMAN:  That's a bit of a tricky one, because we are great believers in demand response.  We think it can do an awful lot for not only our system, but for the province.  We are basically being hampered, though, in terms of getting involved in demand response, so we can't get the experience.  The OPA, for example, has come right out and said they do not want us in demand response.  If we apply for programs to do demand response, they're programs that sit on the shelf.  They're not funded.  So we're just having great difficulties getting involved in demand response, so it is hard for us to -- you know, we have done a little bit of testing on it, but we can't get off the ground.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you have any demand response programs in your third tranche funding?


MR. HERMAN:  I believe there is some -- I can't remember the third tranche.  There is some thermostats out there now, peak savers, with a little bit of testing going on.  Again, the OPA doesn't want us to be the aggregator.  In a sense, we're not in control of what happens when.  We just do the marketing, in a sense, and get our people to put in thermostats in their homes.


Again, there has been very little -- there will be more testing next summer when there is enough of them in, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your current forecasting, then, assumes essentially no demand response until you have -- until the infrastructure is in place to start to get some significant impact?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I get it.


I'm referring now to JD 46(c).  This is referring to your remote telemetering unit replacement programs, of which there is two of them, I guess; right?  We have asked you to provide us with a chart, which you weren't able to do by last night, but I would ask you to undertake to provide this chart of the information requested.  Do you want me to read it in?  

"For each of the RTU replacement programs, please provide a year-by-year chart that shows number replaced, capital budget actual, O&M budget actual and rate base impact.  Please provide a vintage chart for the existing RTUs.  What is the current depreciation rate for RTUs and what is the proposed depreciation rate for the new RTUs?"


MR. MORAN:  We're not sure what is involved in that at this point, because it involves operations room people that would have to be involved in the preparation.  So we will do our best to get it and we will give the undertaking on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Could I ask you -- that's fine.  Do your best is good.  I wonder if you could, earlier rather than later, deal with the last three components, the vintage chart, the existing depreciation rate and the future depreciation rate, because those will have the most impact in the near term.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  We will focus on those three aspects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would still like the chart, but I understand that is probably a lot more work.  


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTF.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.7:  TO PROVIDE ANSWER TO JD 46(C).


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am referring to JD 47(d).  We asked when -- you are buying a spare transformer, and we're asking when it will be added to rate base.  And that, of course, is when it is used and useful, as I understand the rule.


As I understand your written response - and tell me whether I have this right - under one of the OEB's accounting rules, you're treating this as used and useful immediately, although it won't be in service as soon as you buy it, because it's available to be a backup.  So it provides you with some reliability.  Is that a fair...


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm just going to say that sometimes when we buy the transformers, a customer may request that they want to initially buy it themselves.  So after we put it in, it may be that they buy it themselves.  


So what we will do is we will buy a transformer, put it in inventory.  At such time as we take it out and use it in the field for ourselves, then it becomes used and useful in the system, and at that time we capitalize it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in this case, the one you're buying next year, you are not planning to actually put it in service right away.  It's going to be a spare; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  If we buy something that's going to be used in our system to maintain our reliability, we would capitalize it at that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What you said in your answer to the interrogatory at JD-47 is:

"The spare transformer is added to rate base when it is placed into service the first time."


So if you didn't use it in 2008, you wouldn't add it into rate base?


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then what I understand your answer to the technical conference question is, no, as soon as you've got it, it's provided you with additional reliability, so it is in rate base.


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  What I'm saying is the way we account for it is we buy transformers, put them in our inventory, and, as soon as we use it, then we put it into rate base, because at the time, most of the transformers we purchase are not intended for resale.  And I suppose we could put them in to rate base at that time, but we're not completely sure.


So we put them in inventory, and as soon as they're issued to a work order, at that time we capitalize.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What I am trying to understand is you have done a forward test year forecast, which includes buying a spare transformer.  In order to calculate your rate base, you had to assume when that went into rate base, that transformer, otherwise you couldn't calculate your rate base; right?  So I want to know:  When did you assume that's going to be part of rate base, the spare transformer?


[Panel confers]


MR. WOLFF:  Can I get clarification of your question?  Your question specifically relates to our assumptions around taking a transformer out of inventory and capitalizing it as a spare transformer; is that correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  In your application, in the 2007 system capacity report, page 16, one of the things that's included in your purchases, one of capital expenditures that you are including in your requirements for 2008, is a spare transformer.


MR. WOLFF:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?  So we asked:  When are you assuming that's added to rate base?  And you said, in your response, it's added to rate base when we put it into service for the first time.


So I am saying you calculated your 2008 rate base.  When did you assume it went into service?


[Panel confers]


MR. WOLFF:  Our 2008 rate application assumes that if we have a capital project that does in fact require a spare transformer - so if we're replacing a substation or something of that nature - at that point that transformer is, in fact, capitalized as part of the change-out or part of the capital project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what month is that for the spare transformer?


MR. WOLFF:  There would be likely a number of them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there is one spare transformer in the --


MR. WOLFF:  We may have to look at what the assumption was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just sort of track that down, because it is in your rate base somewhere.  You must have assumed --


MR. WOLFF:  It is part of our capital planning, in the system capacity report.


MR. MUKHERJI:  That's JTF.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTF.8:  TO PROVIDE ASSUMED COMMISSIONING DATE OF SPARE TRANSFORMER

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks, I will try to speed it up a little bit.  JD-47(f), still on that same page, you said that you're going to reduce your customer minutes, your downtime I guess, by improving reliability, and thus avoid future incremental maintenance costs, and presumably you would get more revenue too if you're out less.


These have dollar impacts.  What are the dollar impacts?  You said, in your written response, you have no forecasts for 2008 or 2009 for either revenue increases or cost savings.  Is that right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  Our reliability, I guess, has been operating in a fairly narrow band.  Our target is the 30-minute mark.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then in the -- there's a series of unnumbered pages between these that talk about vehicle purchases.  Our question was:  In those budget costs for vehicles, are there any -- is there any internal overhead?  Is there any acquisition costs that are internal to the Enersource group of companies, as opposed to paying to the dealer?


MR. HERMAN:  Just what's paid to the dealer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So where do you put those other costs, the overhead costs associated with buying all of this stuff?  Is that just in your normal O&M?


MR. HERMAN:  No, they are charged out then with the vehicle.  The cost of our fleet department is charged out as the people use the vehicle.  Once we purchase the vehicle, now somebody is actually driving it, then we charge for that.  If it goes to regulated or goes into unregulated or wherever it goes, somebody is then paying for all of the overheads related to the fleet department.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The capital costs associated with acquiring it are not -– It's not capitalized --


MR. MACUMBER:  Our purchasing department does the acquisition of the vehicle.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. MACUMBER:  Then we capitalize any kind of cost -- the dealer cost and any customization that we need done to the vehicle in order to serve our purposes is capitalized.


The costs for purchasing or the actual administration of it, purchasing does the paperwork and has -- follows the same policies and procedures for signing off on the purchase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the internal costs of purchasing are in O&M.  They're not capitalized to the vehicle?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In JD-49, section E, you talked about standard corporate policies and procedures that you used to approve your grounds and building spending.  I don't remember this question.  Oh, yes, this is your grounds and building capital projects.  So we asked for your documentation with respect to that.  That is actually quite a bit this year, right?


You said, you just -- you deal with it using standard corporate policies and procedures.  So I mean, I don't want all of your corporate policies and procedures, but can you give us the -- how you made these decisions, the documentation associated with them?


MR. HERMAN:  Any kind of facilities expenditures go through the normal budgeting process, and has to be approved by the budget committee, the audit committee and the board.  For the most part, they're relatively obvious expenditures, because we're not that large, you know, of a company.  We work in the building.  We see the things that are on.  


Our roof, for example, is done.  It's leaking.  There is actually water coming into our control room.  So when the facilities guy says I need a new roof, we kind of understand why.  We have issues with some of our windows, with drafts, fogging, people plugging in baseboard heaters, so if he says I have to replace a few windows or whatever it is, we have a pretty simple procedure to determine what we have to do with our facilities costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't you buy a new parking lot or something?  Am I right on that?  Didn't you pay like $2-1/2 million for new parking?


MR. HERMAN:  Oh, no, that is proposed.  We are in the process of attempting to buy that parking lot.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would have thought that was sufficiently non-routine that it doesn't go through your normal budgeting process, and it is less obvious than a leaky roof in the control room.


MR. HERMAN:  That one I was going to deal with separately.  That is sort of a one-time special thing where we have been waiting -- we are landlocked right now.  We have a railway track on one side and the Region of Peel on the other.  We're in between.  We have we have had a number of issues for a number of years, struggling with things, parking, storage of our poles, even actually the configuration of our driveway, which is a bit strange and even, in my opinion, unsafe.  And we have always -- we have waited for the opportunity to get this land.  We have nowhere else to go but wait for the Region of Peel to sell.  We got wind that they were, now, actually going to move, and we had evidence of it from a number of places.


When we sent our conservation people over to try to help them make their building more energy efficient, they said no, don't bother, because we're not staying here.


There is a homeless shelter on the back of this property, and they're in the process of moving the homeless people elsewhere.  So they're getting ready to move, and when I sent the facilities person over to talk to them, they said their plan is to be out in 2008 and that they would give us the first chance to buy it, because they know, you know, we're Hydro and as I say, if we don't get this property, we're -- we don't know what else to do, because then you're into satellite locations.  So they have agreed they will consider us first.  


So it's not a done deal, but we are doing everything we can to get that property.  So that's a bit of a 

unique --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that this is going to be used for a parking lot?


MR. HERMAN:  The main thing we need is space, yes.  It can -- but even there, it's not 100 percent.  We have to take a close look at their building.  We have never been inside this thing to really do an evaluation on it, but you could use the building for a while, possibly, and then rip it down later.


But the main thing that is driving us is space.  We don't have space for poles.  We don't have space to park and we would like to reconfigure the driveway.  So the most obvious thing would be to just knock it down, pave it, and then we will be in better shape.  But we want to take -- we will look at the building before we just rip it down right away.  There may be ways of working around it, because it costs money to rip the building down, too.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have any analysis document with respect to this land acquisition, where somebody sat down and said:  Okay, this is how much it is going to cost, this is the benefit we're going to get out of it, these are the choices we're going to have, these are the alternatives to buying this?


MR. HERMAN:  We have had discussions around it.  But the thing is if it's not contiguous, it doesn't meet our needs.


We have been through some of this before.  We have rented space somewhere else and it's been very problematic.  Employees -- we even had sort of a rule, anybody hired after this day cannot park on our property.  You have to go down the street and you have to walk, and there was no bus service on Mavis at the time.  It just doesn't work when you are far away.  If it was one lot over or something, you might be able to make it work.  But there is nothing else available on Mavis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In terms of the question I asked, 

the -- you didn't -- nobody sat down and did a written analysis of your options?


MR. HERMAN:  No, just verbal discussions about it.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Discussed internally?  Okay.


Our question 24 refers to JD-61, the attachment, and in the attachment you talk about the amounts being allocated from Enersource Corporation to Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  I am looking at the -- excuse me.  I am looking at the finance function.  If I gross it up, it appears that the finance function budget increased by $843,000 from --


MR. MORAN:  Excuse me.  We're not sure what you are looking at.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The attachment.  It is Interrogatory No. 43 and the attachment, which  is page 61.  The attachment pages aren't numbered, so it is the page after 61.  If you see the finance line, you will see the amounts allocated.  So you have to gross those up to get to the full budget; right?


MR. MORAN:  It is the page after 60.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In mine, it is the page after 61.  So, sorry.  In fact, it is the page after 61.


So the finance cost, total cost, the total budget, went up $843,000 from 2006 to 2007.  That's 27 percent.  I guess I'm just asking why that is.


MR. MACUMBER:  We did provide a written response.  Is there not a written response?  Increased insurance, $400,000 in our internal controls project, and then we have increased manpower costs for wage increases and job escalations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the compliance, the $400,000 for compliance, that is a project; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  It's a project that is ongoing.  We had asked in our 2006 EDR for a variance account to be compliant with Bill 198.  This will be ongoing testing, ongoing requirements to ensure that our controls are in place and we're certifying our statements are correct.


So the ongoing costs may go down over time, but for the foreseeable future, the costs will not be going away.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is like the Canadian equivalent of Sarbanes-Oxley; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Sort of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that that, the incremental costs of that to you, is going to be $400,000 a year?


MR. MACUMBER:  In actual fact, for 2007 it's about $525,000 for consulting dollars, testing, audit.  There is a lot of, I guess, work and detail and assumptions and backup and material that needs to be created, and then on an ongoing basis you have to test that, that your controls are working as intended.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  It's an internal audit process.


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we already had internal audit.  This is a much large project than just internal audit.


MR. WOLFF:  There are consultant expenses involved in some parts of actually developing and documenting controls.  We've had a significant project right now in the IT.  So we have had a document encompassing the entire IT and its controls in order to comply with Bill 198 and meet all of the internal controls.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is what I'm trying to understand, because lots of companies have had to go through this and it is not actually unusual to spend $3- or $400,000 in the first year to get your systems in place to do it properly.


MR. WOLFF:  I suspect three -- depending on the company, I mean, $300,000, that would seem like a fairly light sum.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to drive at is normally you spend that in one year, and then you don't have to spend it anymore.  You have ongoing higher costs, but they are much lower than the transition year.


MR. WOLFF:  So you're saying the implementation costs would be $300,000?  I have read documentation where companies spend millions of dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure, but you're not that big a company.


MR. WOLFF:  We're not that big a company, but I don't think we're that small a company, either.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now I'm turning to JD-11.  This is -- let me just find it here.  This is CCC Interrogatory No. 18.  I guess we did not have the attachment.  This attachment is now here.  You have provided it in your written material.  This is capital budget and actual capital spending, 2000 and 2006.


MR. MACUMBER:  You said --


MR. MORAN:  You said 2000 to 2006, capital budget and actual?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Yes, that is the attachment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the next one is Board Staff JA 6, and in the attachment, the system capacity report at page 14, you showed large increases in your SAIDI for 2005 and 2006.  You didn't answer this part of the question in writing, so I wonder if you could provide those answers.  This is section A of our question.  You answered C, but A and B weren't answered.


MR. HERMAN:  Well, for the SAIDI, all I can say is that SAIDI works within a band.  The world class target is considered to be 30 minutes, and it will naturally deviate a little up or down.  2005 was a very hot year.  It was the hottest year we have seen for quite some time.  And when we have intense and sustained heat, the splices, cables splices, start popping, and our reliability is affected in that year.


The next year got somewhat better for us, except then we had the highest peak and had some issues around that.  It was not as lengthy, but it was the highest peak that we had.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I am looking for is, the second part of this question is the forecasts for 2007 and 2008 for SAIDI.  Is that in your materials somewhere?


MR. HERMAN:  For -- I'm not sure if it is in the material.  For 2007, we expect to be in the 40s, possibly as high as 45.  We have had kind of a rough year due to storms.  These are were sort of freakish storms that don't happen too often in the south.  Some were actually -- one was actually a hurricane.  The other one was borderline, but it damaged the trees.  We have a very heavily treed area in the southern Mississauga, and it took down our pole lines.  And, in one case, in fact, we had a fire as a result of the one hurricane, and they even brought in fire crews from Milton to help Mississauga.


So it is these things that don't happen very often.  But 2007 is a bad year, but it is related to a few very specific incidents.



MR. SHEPHERD:  What about 2008?


MR. HERMAN:  In 2008, we hope to get back to sort of our normal target, which is about 30.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you having to take any specific actions to get back there, or are you treating 2005 and 2007 as anomalies and normal practice is --


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  In fact, this year, you can't do anything much more to protect against hurricanes, so we're treating it as an anomaly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the other -- part B to that question says:  

"Please show how the $5.00 per customer-minute was calculated given that the highest per-minute value in table 5(a) $1.30 per minute and the next highest is 23.56 cents per minute."


I guess we just couldn't figure out how you ended up with your number.


MR. MORAN:  You're referring to, I think, page 18 of the report?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 18, yes.


MR. HERMAN:  I don't know if we can answer this adequately at this point.  We know generally what our engineers do with it, but they really just look for something that places a value, that recognizes that when there is an outage, it costs the customer something.


So as part of their evaluation, whether the number is absolutely precise or not, but they're applying something to recognize the effect that there is a cost to the customer.  This isn't a cost to us, it is to the customer.  So it sort of helps their analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that what the interruption cost model is supposed to do, do a disciplined analysis of the costs to different types of customers?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I don't understand how all of those numbers are so much lower than the $5.  That's what I can't get.  It's an order of magnitude difference.


MR. HERMAN:  I am just saying I can't answer it here, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You use that $5 to justify capital spending, right?


MR. HERMAN:  That's one of the factors, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if it's out by a factor of ten, then presumably your capital spending decisions are wrong.


MR. HERMAN:  It's just a ranking.  If you are consistent with a number that you use, it is one of the factors that goes in, just to find the capital spending.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I guess what I am going to ask you to do then is undertake to show where the $5 per customer-minute comes from and to reconcile it with your interruption cost model.  Can you do that?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  I think that is JTA.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.9:  to show where the $5 per customer-minute comes from and to reconcile it with interruption cost model


MR. FAYE:  Can you clarify, Mr. Shepherd, that in my copy of the report, table 5A does not reference dollars per customer-minute.  It references dollars per kilowatt.  Have you got a different table?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understood -- There is the duration chart there, as well.


MR. MORAN:  In the sentence underneath table 5A, there is a reference to $5 per customer-minute.


MR. FAYE:  Yes.  I think what is confusing me is that the question references $1.30 per minute.  The next highest is 23.56 cents per minute.


I wonder -- I don't see those numbers here -- so I am wondering if there is a chart that is missing from our binder.


MR. MORAN:  We have the same question.  We weren't sure where those numbers came from, either.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The $1.30 per minute is -- a one-minute outage per kilowatt is $1.30 for industrial customers.


MR. MORAN:  I think all we're indicating is that in the table, there is a reference to average cost dollars per kilowatt. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It may be that when you track through how you calculate the $5, it's because of the assumptions as to how many kilowatts are in every outage.  I get that.


MR. MORAN:  So you're just asking to understand how the -- where the $5 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying to tie the two together.  Where did the $5 come from?  The $5 isn't just picked out of the air, it is a calculated number.  Right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  We can find out.  It's just that we don't know here.  We have to talk to our engineers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  JA 9, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, has a series of budget and bridge-year and test-year comparisons.  I guess what I would like you to do is just -- some of these are big increases, and I would like you to go through and tell us what those -- what the reasons for those increases are.


Some of them are described generally in your evidence, but it's difficult for us, looking at this, to look at these increases and track back to your evidence to figure out why each number is being increased.


MR. MACUMBER:  I am just trying to get some clarification.  You're talking of going from rate base 

to where, from what we're spending on capital to how it relates to rate base?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not even that.  I'm not even asking for that much work.  What I am saying is, if you have, for example, an increase of -- what's a good example? You know, $5,000,000 in ITS, that is rate base.


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  What I would like you to do is just give us a brief explanation as to why that one is going up that much.  Of course, that will be CIS.


MR. MACUMBER:  That's what I mean.  All of the evidence is in there to explain how you go from, you're going to have your capital spend, and then I am going to and it to my rate base because that is what I would do.


So I'm just trying to figure out, you want us to basically go through the capital spend and put bullet points in, here's what we're spending in capital, here is the reference for it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you want.  I mean --


MR. MACUMBER:  I am just trying to think -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We tried to do this chart.  Before we had this interrogatory response, we try tried to do this chart and go back to your application and identify what's the reason for each of the increases.  Some of them, we couldn't find them.  So we're asking you to just give us a summary.  You must have it.


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, all of the capital spending goes into capital, which then, like, in turn, creates your rate base.  But the way we did our rate base, where you take your opening, your closing, and then take the average, the way we have calculated rate base is different than our capital spend.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.


MR. MACUMBER:  So I mean we can say generally, this is CIS, this is IOM, or this is, you know, underground construction work.  But we've provided all of the data.  That's why I am --


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you're saying it is already in your evidence?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I'm saying that all of the capital spend has been included in our application.  This is just a summary of how capital gets added to rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is what the ratepayers pay?


MR. MACUMBER:  Exactly.  But because we already provided all of the capital, I am having a hard time trying to say:  Here's our capital spend, we have broken down.  This is system maintenance.  When we have provided the capital schedule, it says this is system maintenance.  So I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In the interests of time, I am going to leave that.  Let me go to JA 11.  This is the CIS.  As I understand it, you had budget overruns on the CIS.  Now, am I right that although you had budget overruns you're actually only including in your application the originally budgeted amount?  I couldn't find the 10.8 million.


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  We filed in August.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. MACUMBER:  And when we reviewed the CIS during the end of August and the month of September, we went back and reviewed the costs, and it's going to be more than the 7.9 that was included.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you amending your application?


MR. MORAN:  There will be an update to the evidence on this point, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the rate impact is of that additional -- what is it, it's about $3.9 million?


MR. MACUMBER:  We haven't -- I don't know if anybody has done the calculation.  I haven't done the calculation yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's going to increase your revenue requirement by, what, about 400,000, 500,000?


MR. WOLFF:  There is everything from PILs implications to -– I mean, to bring it all through, we would probably have to sit down and work it through on a spreadsheet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is going to be a significant amount, right?


MR. HERMAN:  It would be in the 400 range.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know when that update is going to be available?


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm only going to suggest that we're probably thinking we are going to do all of the changes at once.  It makes it easier to put -- if we're going to make changes -- put them all in at once.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, but ADR starts tomorrow.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So I guess the question is for purposes of ADR, can we -- do you want to work with that 400,000 approximately, and then we can take it from there?  If you need more precision then we can certainly talk about that, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So anyway the question was: what's the reason for the cost overruns?


MR. HERMAN:  The reason, it's a bit lengthy.  I have this sort of theory on why IT projects tend to go over-budget.  Not just ours.


There is a very simple reason for it, and that is that there's three phases to a project.  Initially, you define your need for a new CIS and that's not as easy as it sounds.  There are a lot of people that essentially will resist it.  They have been through this before and don't want to go through it again.


You have a strategy.  Our strategy was to partner.  We said we will never go alone again with a CIS.  That's how we think we got burned the last time with Orcom.  So we tried to work -- we put in an awful lot of time working with other utilities.  Eventually we wound up with Toronto.  So different from what we initially expected, but it met our partnership goals.


Then we go out and look for the best system.  To do site visits and talk to a lot of people and go through a lot of demos so you're in that sort of early stage.


Unfortunately, it's in that stage when you have to could have to cough up the number.  You have to get the approval from your board. 


That's where a project goes wrong, because at that point, in reality, people don't know enough about the costs.  There is a certain amount of guessing involved.  Our IT group basically said, If you give us a million dollars for hardware and a million for people and a million contingency, you will have a project, because the other costs are known, the costs specific to SPL, but in terms of our costs, give us some hardware, some people and a contingency and you will have a project.


Then you actually move into the next page of the project.  I actually have drafts of these.  I just didn't get a chance to put it in.  So now you actually select a team, which is also difficult to do, because people have to actually leave their jobs for a long time and work out of another office that is further from their home and all of that.  You have to equip them.  You have to train them.  They have never seen the system.


Then they -- once they're in this building and they know something about the systems, now they're working to develop common business processes and agree on these processes, look at any needs for customization and justify those needs, et cetera.  They're working essentially towards what we call a statement of work, and that is a key milestone in the project, to get to the statement of work stage.


At the statement of work stage, you now know exactly what's happening.  You know who is doing what.  You're now building, converting, going live and doing your post go-live activities.  But you now have a scope schedule and budget.  You know who does what and when.


It is a very controlled process from then on.  You have sign-offs for things, and this part of the project lends itself well to reporting and tracking.


But in the earlier stages, there is a certain amount of guessing going on.  Some people may be smarter at it than -- they put an awful lot of contingency in.  We don't work like that.  We really believed that we could do this thing for 7 million and found out that we were off by quite a bit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a breakdown of about 5 million known external costs and 3 million internal costs, roughly?


MR. MACUMBER:  In that ballpark, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 5 million was sort of what you were going to have to pay to SPL and the system integrators and the package; right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it's in the internal budget that you had the cost increase, so it basically doubled?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  And it doubled in a number of areas, and I can give you an example of -- well, the hardware was a guess of a million and it has virtually doubled.  Conversion costs, conversion costs basically went from the original, from zero to $900,000, and I can explain that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Conversion costs, as in costs to convert other software that is going to have to talk to this system?


MR. HERMAN:  To convert from our old -- to convert the data from our old --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, data-conversion costs?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  Our IT people felt that our programmers could do it and that they were there, anyway.  This year they happened to be programming this particular project.  They believed there is no extra cost, so they actually put it in at zero.


When they actually got to find out how much is involved, they said, If we use our own, it's going to cause a delay in the project, and that's the worst thing that could happen on a project, when the length goes out, the time of the project.  That creates a lot of other costs, and also nothing is being done.  Nobody else gets any kind of service while they're over there. 


So they came to the conclusion this isn't going to work and we have to go outside to get some help.  When they went outside, they got an estimate of $900,000, which was kind of shocking to them.  So it went really from zero to 900,000.  So we have had a number of those shocks.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This sounds like it was just a matter of inexperience.  You haven't done a project like this before and so things were new to you.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you consider using an external consultant with experience in the field?


MR. HERMAN:  No, not really.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Shepherd, I wonder if this would be an appropriate time to take a short break, give the court reporter time to rest?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Could we reconvene in, say, ten minutes at 11:35?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


--- Recess taken at 11:24 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:38 a.m. 


MR. FAYE:  We are ready to convene. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're at our question 29: 

"Please provide an estimate of the average difference between expected in-service date and actual in-service date for capital projects over the last five years."


This is a reference to JA 13, in which you talked about the fact that your actual in-service dates are generally later than your expected in-service dates.


I wonder if you have calculated what your normal slippage is.


[Panel confers]


MR. HERMAN:  In general, projects that we have control over are mostly related to the distribution system.  The projects relating to our distribution system that we have control over are in most cases done on time.  We have certain projects where we may run into difficulties, and they are usually sort of the IT type of projects.  Then we go, we basically go into catch-up mode.  They still get done, but you know, the timing of it can change slightly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am looking for is, I guess, you're doing a forward test year now.  This is in fact your first forward test year, right --


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that you have had to do.  So you have expected in-service dates for a number of things and you have calculated your rate base, presumably, on the basis of those expected in-service dates.  If you have on average a standard slippage of two months, three months on average, then that will mean that your rate base is overstated.


So I am wondering, have you taken into account the slippage in estimating rate base, or alternatively, what sort of slippage numbers should be used to adjust?


MR. HERMAN:  I'm saying the only slippage in it, it's even of a relatively minor nature.  So I don't think it would have a big effect as, say, an IT project that you would really like to be further along with at this point, you know, might slip three months or so, but then it still gets done.


Like our IOM project, for example, is going to go live next year.  It may be a couple of months later than we wanted, but it is going live.  We don't have sort of a lot of standard slippage in our projects.  Our distribution system projects are generally done when we say they're going to be done.  It's just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you calculated your rate base, the in-service month for each project is your expected in-service date, right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next question refers to JA 20.  We've asked you to provide a calculation of the impact on revenue requirement of using the 11.6 percent working capital number, instead of the 15 percent.  You have declined to provide that.  


We estimate the impact on rate base to be $22,000,000.  Can you please provide a calculation for that, or show that it is incorrect?


[Panel confers]


MR. MORAN:  Jay, are you just asking us to confirm that the dollar number associated with 11 percent is different from the dollar number associated with 

15 percent?


MS. GIRVAN:  What the dollar difference is.


MR. MORAN:  So you just want us to do the math and come up with the dollar number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Sure, we can do that.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.10:  to confirm that the dollar number associated with 11 percent is different from the dollar number associated with 15 percent


MR. SHEPHERD:  Our question 31 asks for a more detailed response to IR JA 32, and you have responded to that in a VECC response.  So I will leave that to VECC to pursue.  VECC technical conference response number 6, apparently, answers my question.


In reference to JA 39, you were asked to provide historical and EDR numbers for the line items.  You had the totals, but you didn't have the line items broken down.  You have now provided that in a written response.  Now I am lost.  Hang on.


Then in reference to JA 42.  This talks about your incentive program and we have asked you to provide the actual formula used to calculate incentives and a copy of the actual plan.  The description is useful but it doesn't really tell us how the rubber hits the road.  You know, the -- if all of these are one percent except one which is 

97 percent, then that's a different incentive plan than another one, right?  So could you provide us with the plan document and the numbers?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.11:  TO PROVIDE plan document and numbers


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were asked in JA 43 for a forecast of employee retirements.  You said that you don't have a forecast.  Is that right?


MR. HERMAN:  Correct.  Yes.


MR. WOLFF:  We don't forecast because of the uncertainty involved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying to understand how you do manpower planning if you don't forecast retirements and departures.  Manpower planning is an important part of what you do, right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  Maybe I could try to answer.  It's not that we don't do anything around retirement planning, but we go away, for example, on executive retreats and we discuss many issues.  One of them is our aging workforce and our concerns around that.


Our human resources department at one of these retreats provided sort of a listing of our employees and their ages, and we had discussions around the employees, about, is there any intelligence about whether the person might leave or might not.  Some people do like to retire early and some like to work.  But we actually have people who want to work past 65 now.


So we sort of around the table try and decide where our exposure is coming from.  Then we sort of build that into our planning, but it's not absolutely certain.  We have, say, a concern that a control room operator, we think he's going to go, so we better get an apprentice going now.


So the thing is sort of built into our thinking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not a plan per se, but when you sit around you say, you make decisions like:  Joe's the type of guy who might leave at 55.  We better have a young person in training for that position, just in case?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  In some cases some people declare when they're going, so that the kind of information that comes up.  So and so has told me they are leaving in four years.  In other cases, we're just sort of guessing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The next question relates to JD-43.


MR. MORAN:  It's page 43?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I think that's actually mistaken.  I think it's JA 43.  I think that is a typo.  Yes, it is.  My apologies.  So it's Board Staff Interrogatory No. 28, and you have two attachments there, actuarial reports from F. Paul Duxbury.  


Now, you formerly used somebody else, right, Watson Wyatt, to do your actuarial reports?


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When Watson Wyatt did them, they had a different assumption with respect to when people will retire than Duxbury issues; correct?


MR. WOLFF:  I'm not intimately familiar with the Watson Wyatt report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the Duxbury report says -- he's assuming that 50 percent of people will retire at the first early retirement date; right?


MR. WOLFF:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas Watson Wyatt, as I understand it, had a more detailed set of assumptions as to when people are going to retire - I'm just looking for it here - which is actually 4.46 percent between 55 and 59, and by the time you get to age 64 you have 13 percent.


So it is obviously structured so that retirements are assumed to be much later; right?  So why the change from one assumption to another?


MR. WOLFF:  These were assumptions that were generated by the individual actuarial specialists, so we can't comment on the theory or the way that they have used these assumptions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that has increased your payment obligation, right, substantially?


MR. WOLFF:  It would, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I am going to ask you to undertake to find out how much for each of them.  There is the same set of assumptions apply in each of the two plans.  The actuary presumably can calculate that.


MR. WOLFF:  Just to be clear, the Watson Wyatt only covers one of the plans that is covered by Mr. Duxbury's report, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But Mr. Duxbury has used a set -- the same set of assumptions are in both responses.  It just that Watson Wyatt, when they did theirs, used a different, more complex, set of assumptions; right?


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I am asking you to do is assume Watson Wyatt, Duxbury, what's the difference for each of the two plans?


MR. WOLFF:  Again, just to be clear, the Watson Wyatt study related to only one of the plans.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When people retire is an assumption that is true, regardless of which plan you're doing.  You still need that same assumption.  So Duxbury used the same assumption for both actuarial evaluations.


MR. WOLFF:  We will have to...


MR. MORAN:  I guess you can hear us sort of struggling with what it is you actually want us to do.  It may be that, you know, there is no actuarial experts here, and so they can't really speak to what you think the assumptions are.  And I suppose we can follow up with the actuarials and see if there is a way of providing that information, so I think that is all we can do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  This year, the company went to a new actuary, which, by the way, is not as well known as the old one.  And the new actuary used a simplified assumption that causes both of these expense amounts to increase substantially.


So it's legitimate for us to ask:  What's the basis for changing that assumption?  And if you don't know the information, it's legitimate for you to go ask your consultant to justify it.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So just to help us, we're just trying to understand what it is that you specifically want us to find out, so if you could just help us understand?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to know why the assumption was changed.  Clearly the Watson Wyatt assumption is a more detailed assumption, so presumably had some rigour behind it.  A 50 percent then, 50 percent then, sounds more like numbers picked out of the air, to me.


MR. MORAN:  If I understand, you would like an explanation from Duxbury as to the assumption that he's using?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't he use the assumption that had obviously been calculated before?


MR. MORAN:  We can pose that question, I guess.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the dollar impact of that changed assumption for each plan?  Literally, he can plug that into a spreadsheet, I'm quite sure.


MR. MORAN:  We will give our best efforts.  This is obviously third-party information and we will do our best to get that for you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.12:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF F. PAUL DUXBURY'S ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  JTA, what?


MR. MUKHERJI:  Twelve.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Twelve, thank you.


Then the next question is 36, which says JD-43, but it is actually not.  It is actually JA 43, again, same typo.


You have provided a copy of the prior valuation and you have confirmed the changes in average salary, average age and average service.  We did ask you whether you have a plan in place, an aging-workforce plan.  I take it, from your previous question, that you don't have a formal plan, but you are continually monitoring it at all times?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Our question 39 deals with -- sorry, 37 is a request for a reconciliation of certain historical data and your financial statements.  You have now provided that in written answer number 37.


Then I will take you to JA 47, which is -- if I can find it, which is budget bridge and test for a number of line items.  You were asked for each to break down the impact of labour changes, staffing changes, et cetera, you will see in the question that Board Staff asked.


I tried to understand these spreadsheets and it may be just that they're printed as opposed to in Excel, but I wonder if you could just sort of give us two minutes' guidance as to how to understand this answer; that is, JA 47 and the following pages.


MR. MACUMBER:  I guess what I tried to do is you created a spreadsheet from one of your interrogatories saying, Is this table correct based on each business unit?  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Board Staff?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, your own question.  You had a question.  There were three kinds of questions related to it.  One was the Board Staff 31.  You had a question.  I think it was 41 or 45, and VECC had a question, about OM&A.  So you had a chart.  So what I tried to do is I said, Okay, to try to answer all of the questions at once, here's our business units.  Here is the variances, so when I got to your response, I said, Yes, your table is correct.  Please see the explanations here.


What we tried to do is we tried to show the variances year over year, and then break it down between material, transportation and other.  That's how we account or have -- we call them controllable costs, but they're really accountable costs.  We have a manager responsible for each business unit.


We tried to give a summary level of the high-level changes, whether it be a system maintenance -- or, sorry, software maintenance and licences, or repairs to the building, heat and hydro, et cetera.  The main component, though, of our expenses is manpower costs, where I tried to use an average cost per employee of 65,000 of OM&A costs, because I don't want to actually detail how much each individual person makes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.


MR. MACUMBER:  And then -- So the first sheet is total controllables, which ties to your sheet.  And then the breakdown following that is manpower by year, material, transportation, and other, trying to give the high level analysis of why OM&A costs have increased.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you've got -- pages 49 and 50 are actually one spreadsheet.  Fifty extends to -- sorry, this is JA page 49 and page 50.


MR. MACUMBER:  Forty-nine is the total, and then 50 is the manpower analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Forty-nine says "manpower controllable costs" and has line items for variances.


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay, so the first one is manpower, 49 is manpower year over year with a variance.  Fifty is the estimation between 2006 and 2007.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me stop you there.  For example, you have substation operations.  You have a variance of $447,000.  This is almost double -- your budget almost doubled, right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have said the reasons are salary increases, and so that's all types of salary increases or is that --


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, all types of salary increases for the people that are currently doing the jobs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you've got standby.  What is that?  


MR. MACUMBER:  We added some weekend shifts that weren't in the budget, like in 2006 we determined we didn't have coverage, so we added dollars for standby.  The actual 80 probably should have been broken between different departments.  I tried to sum it up and put it under one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you've got "substation maintenance, 160"; isn't that something you did do anyway?


MR. MACUMBER:  We did do it.  We used summer students at all our 70 substations to cut the grass, maintain the grounds.  We found they weren't doing a proper job, so we outsourced that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the incremental cost?


MR. MACUMBER:  Exactly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this was costing you very little before?


MR. MACUMBER:  The students were costing us very little, but the job they were doing wasn't sufficient.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then farther down that page you have "admin", and in admin you have a $639,000 increase, which is about, I don't know, 15 percent or so.  

20 percent, I guess.  Of that, 163,000 is salary increases?


MR. MACUMBER:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that I didn't understand, because you've got -- that is 6 percent, no, that's 5 percent.  Why would you have 5 percent salary increases admin staff?


MR. MACUMBER:  The admin that we have there incorporates all of our executive management in the hydro company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are executive salary increases?


MR. MACUMBER:  The admin line item includes all of the senior managers and executives in the Hydro company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have another one, 175 for "safety training".  Tell me about that.


MR. MACUMBER:  That is our boot camp.  In 2006, we determined that we didn't have enough training for our internal staff to comply with all of the regulations and to make sure that we were performing up to safety standards.


In 2006, the dollars were actually charged to "safety".  So we determined that they were only benefiting the Hydro company, so we actually moved the cost to Hydro in 2007.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which line were they in before?


MR. MACUMBER:  They were in the corporate office, under "safety".


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where is that?


MR. MACUMBER:  This is Hydro.  Then in the corporate office, safety performs a function for the whole organization.  The costs were incurred by the safety department in 2006.  In 2007 we said they're only benefiting Hydro employees.  We moved it into Hydro, the costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your charges from the corporate office then would have gone down by 175 --


MR. MACUMBER:  For the safety program, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was 175,000?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we would have taken out the 175, and then safety would have had the increases for other things.  So you can't match the 175 reduction.  But, yes, safety went down in 2007.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you have, the other item you have is a million five, a million 498, for "pension, benefits and new positions", and you said, that's 718 in pension and benefits increase.  That is partly the stuff we just talked about, right, the actuarial reports?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  The 718, in the first four months of 2006, we deferred our OMERS pension cost because it wasn't in our rates.  So starting May 1st, we actually got it in our rates, so we stopped deferring those expenses.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me understand that.


MR. MACUMBER:  In January 2005, we had asked the OEB to approve the deferral of our pension expenses.  They agreed that we would be able to defer the operating costs for benefits or pension expense.


So for 2004, 2005 and the first four months of 2006, we deferred those expenses, because they weren't included in our rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a deferral account?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. MACUMBER:  So when we did our 2005 submission for our 2006 EDR, we added it as an expense, an ongoing expense.  So therefore, May 1st, 2006, we actually have a rate that corresponds to the expense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you had for 2007, your 2007 number came up, because you had 12 months in instead of eight months?


MR. MACUMBER:  There you go, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the other part of that is 780,000 for "new positions".


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm going to come to this in a second, but you actually got an extra budget amount in 2006 and 2007 for new positions, right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is in addition to that?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  You're talking about in our 2006 EDR?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  No, in our 2006 EDR what we said is 2004, because it was based on our historical year, we had unusual vacancies, and we adjusted for those unusual vacancies and got a rate for that.


From 2006 to 2007, we're saying:  These are positions that are not included in rates, but we had to hire them and pay for them.  So it's on top of the unusual rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you added -- I will come back to that.  This next page, 51, is the variance from 2007 to 2008, right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That, again, refers back to page 49.  This is still manpower.  This is now the detailed explanation for each of those increases.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you have a 12 percent increase in "control system".  And you have explained a third of it, but you haven't explained the rest of it.  I guess I don't understand.


MR. MACUMBER:  Here we are.  What I can explain is if there's $153,000 variance in manpower costs, there is an amount for salary increases.  We adjust it for our usual vacancy rate.  Then if the control system needed another person, I didn't go specifically and say, that person was hired for the control system, without saying this is how much this person makes.  I tried to use an average, so I don't detail how much individual people make.  So I used an average.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a column here on page 51 that says "usual vacant rate".


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is that?


MR. MACUMBER:  What we tried to do is we know the staff at Enersource, we usually have a vacancy rate.  Like, we're not fully staffed all the time for a full year.  So what we did is I got from HR -- we usually have, for the whole corporation, 20 vacant positions at any time for an estimated ten weeks.  So Hydro has 17 people vacant for an average of ten weeks, and I -- at 65,000.  I took that out of our controllable costs.  I reduced our controllable costs to say I am going to have some vacancies throughout the year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But this column here, are these dollars?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.  There should be minus 12.  I am subtracting money out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. MACUMBER:  So just -- I am going to try to clear this up.  When we do our controllable budget, everybody puts in their wages, their head-count costs, and we factor it in for the full year.  I roll it up, and then what I did I said we will usually have a vacancy rate.  


So I would deduct from each business unit a certain vacancy rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your budget is based on full staffing, and then you say, But we know that on average we're going to have a certain vacancy rate, so we are going to assume that we're actually going to spend less than a full staff budget?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I get it, okay.  So then the other thing I want to look at on this - there is lots of stuff here, but too much for me - is you've got on page JA 52, you've got a number of things that are going up.  Transportation costs are going up substantially.


So you've got substation operations, you've got maintenance and you've got garage.  These are all going up substantially.  Is that just fuel?


MR. MACUMBER:  Mostly fuel, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am now at question 40, but I think you probably have to go now to this command performance, so if it is all right with you, I am going to hand you over to somebody else to spend the next 45 minutes; is that right?


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We have another intervenor that would like to examine at this point for the 45 minutes before our lunch break.  Mr. Adams; Mr. Adams from AMPCO.

Questions by Mr. Adams


MR. ADAMS:  Is that better?  Tom Adams on behalf of AMPCO.  Just following up on your opening statement, 

Mr. Herman.  You described yourself as responsible for defending Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  Do I understand correctly that you are an employee of Enersource Corporation?


MR. HERMAN:  I am an employee of Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. ADAMS:  Oh, right, okay.  Are all of the members of the panel employees of Enersource Hydro Mississauga?


MR. MACUMBER:  I am not.  I am Enersource --


MR. WOLFF:  And I am not.  I'm Enersource Corporation.


MR. ADAMS:  You are?


MR. BONADIE:  Yes.


MS. LITT:  I'm Hydro.


MR. ADAMS:  You're Hydro?


MS. LITT:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Thanks.  The first series of questions I have relates to your capital -- or, I'm sorry, your capacity report.


We were just trying to get a handle on an issue related to a new load that is being added to your system, the Lakeview water treatment plant.


First of all, who is the customer in that case?


MR. HERMAN:  That would be the Region of Peel.


MR. ADAMS:  And when we were looking through the capacity report, there was an indication there that no capacity expansion was required on the 27.6 system to meet the new load requirement.  Then when we looked through the business cases for a number of the projects in the area, we identified four of them that had indicated the Lakeview water and waste water treatment plant as what appeared to be a causal factor.  They were the Lakeshore Road, Hurontario Street to Cawthra Road; another Lakeshore Road, Hurontario Street to Dryden Gate; Royal Windsor Drive and Winston Churchill Boulevard.


Can you help us understand this apparent discrepancy?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  I think there was an error in 

the -- a typo in there about saying there is no capacity required.  There is capacity required.  I don't know how that word "no" got in there.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So you are adding capacity to accept this new 25 megawatt load?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  We summed the constituent projects up to slightly over $5 million.  And the question is:  Are you requiring a capital contribution?


MR. MACUMBER:  I can answer that.  The way we budget capital contributions is we take our total budget, look at previous trends and try to assume how much contribution we will be given in total based on our total capital budget.


I believe in 2008 it's roughly about 4 million we believe we're going to get contributed from developers, in totality, not specifically each project.  Until the project is done, we won't be able to determine how much the project or the developer or the -- I guess the region or whoever it is that would have to contribute a certain amount of capital.  So we do it in total.


MR. ADAMS:  I see.  Do we know whether this project is going to be subject to a capital contribution?


MR. MACUMBER:  I can't determine, unless I saw the actual work sheet, to determine if the customer has to pay some of it.


MR. HERMAN:  We're not at that stage yet.  We haven't calculated that yet.


MR. ADAMS:  I see.  So this comes at the conclusion of the project that you do the calculation?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, when we do a service estimate, there will be a calculation, if the customer has to contribute some money.  But how we do our budget is we budget in total how much it's going to cost, and then take a total amount and say, This is how much will be contributed from all projects.


You could portion some of the spend saying that the developer would give us some, if you want to do it on percentages, but in total we take it off.


MR. ADAMS:  When do we know whether this project is going to be making -- when do you make a decision on whether this project is going to make a capital contribution?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, it's actually -- it's also when we first do the first estimate.  It's determined at that time if the customer has to contribute some money.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  And with this, in respect to this new customer, this new 25 megawatt load, when do you anticipate that happening?


MR. MACUMBER:  When we would do an actual -- the first initial phase and determine if the customer would be required?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  At the start of the project, right, or once the design stage --


MR. HERMAN:  At the design stage.


MR. MACUMBER:  As soon as the design stage is done and they say the project is going to go forward, at that time they would do an estimate of all the materials and work involved in doing the project, and at that time the customer would be -- we would determine how much the customer would have to pay.


MR. ADAMS:  Is this going to take place during the test year?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  This decision that we're talking about, about the contribution?


MR. MACUMBER:  We wouldn't do the work until we did this order form.


MR. ADAMS:  Just as a matter of policy, there is no distinction between a public-sector client for a load of this type versus another type of customer; everybody is subject to the same rules with regard to contributions in aid of construction?


MR. HERMAN:  I believe so, yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  That's helpful.  Thank you.  Only one modest little question in the area of corporate cost allocation.  We were interested in pursuing this question.  For the purposes of corporate cost allocation, Enersource Corporation's invoice to Enersource Hydro Mississauga for HR services is allocated on a head-count basis.  First of all, we're correct in understanding that?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  So the question is, could you provide us with the corresponding cost or the corporate cost allocation, if the allocator was total compensation instead of head count?


MR. MACUMBER:  I just want to be clear.  You want to be able to take the total compensation by each company and then allocate?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  We'll have to take that as an undertaking.  I only have total compensation before I had to leave last night, so I couldn't finish the question.


MR. ADAMS:  I understand.  We just want to see them calculated on two different bases.


MR. MACUMBER:  I can --


MR. HERMAN:  We will do that.


MR. MUKHERJI:  Undertaking JTA 13.  

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA 13:  to provide corporate cost allocation if the allocator was total compensation instead of head count


MR. ADAMS:  A couple of questions in the area of cost of capital.  Again, you are going to have to help me through the question here, in case I have made some errors.  The interest expense is anticipated to grow from 

18.6 million in 2006 to 19.5 million in 2008, although the actual debt of the utility is not forecast to change over the period.  Just sticking with the $290,000,000 bond issuance from previous period, and that carries over.  Okay.  


So please confirm that the basis for the forecasted rise in interest costs in 2008 is driven by the change in rate base, that all deemed debt is calculated for revenue requirement purposes at the rate associated with the historic debt.  Is that correct?


MR. WOLFF:  Enersource's interest costs are not strictly tied to the debt, although the debt is the major, major portion of it.  We record our interest expense for the purposes of accruing the interest on customer deposits.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes?


MR. WOLFF:  We also allocate some interest costs to capital projects in AFUDC, as well as whatever interest is allowed to be accrued on outstanding regulatory asset recoveries.


What happens is, due to the nature of the changes in our consumer deposits and the appropriate rate to be paying back to the customers, the nature of the change in AFUDC rates that we're allowed to utilize for the purposes of allocating to capital projects -- which in fact have dropped significantly since 2006 --


MR. ADAMS:  Mm-hmm.


MR. WOLFF:  -- those are the items that are creating the discrepancy.  Is that clear?


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Is there a reference in the evidence that you can point me to that gives me a breakdown for the interest cost, this 19.5 million for 2008, and where these different components come in?  The bond element, the deposits, construction --


MR. MACUMBER:  I don't think it is in our rate application.  I guess just to -- we have the information, but I'm just --


The 18.6 would be our actual interest expense that we would anticipate on our statements, factoring in the debt and the AFUDC, while the 19.5 is the deemed structure at the historical rate on our revised rate base.  So they're not going to tie.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So you have this growing rate base over the period.  There is a portion of this is debt financed, a portion is equity financed.  Can you help us understand, help me understand your plan with regard to financing the gap between the deemed and actual debt?


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm just going to --


MR. WOLFF:  Go ahead.


MR. MACUMBER:  I was just going to say the way that our revenue requirement is calculated is based on our rate base with the deemed structure.  Our actual structure would differ all the time.  We probably wouldn't go out to look at short-term debt if the structure is not too far apart.


If we thought that our rate base was going to grow substantially and we needed to have a huge influx of money, we would probably go acquire more debt.  But the difference between the two isn't substantial enough to warrant going out for more short-term debt right now.


So there will always be a difference between actual and deemed.


MR. WOLFF:  I was just going to add that any incremental funding requirements are provided through our existing cash reserves.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  You don't have any short-term debt instruments outstanding now or planned for the test year?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  In 2008, Enersource Hydro Mississauga is proposing a deemed debt of approximately 303 million, with an actual outstanding of 290 at the historic coupon rate.  So my question is:  Is there no opportunity for lowering your overall realized cost of debt by filling the gap between these two amounts with short-term debt?


MR. WOLFF:  Just so I understand your question.  Are you asking whether we would incur additional debt for the purposes of reducing our interest costs?  I'm not sure I understand the question.


MR. ADAMS:  Well, you've got a deemed debt that's higher than your debt outstanding.


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So I am trying to understand what you are doing with the difference between those two things.


MR. WOLFF:  It's funded through our cash reserves.


MR. ADAMS:  It is cash reserves.  And the recovery that is in your cost of service for the debt-service cost is based on the rates associated with the historic debt.  Is that correct?


MR. WOLFF:  We used the 6.29 percent in the calculation of what the deemed debt structure would be.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, okay.  That's helpful, thank you. 


MR. WOLFF:  Sorry, just to clarify, it is actually 6.44 -- 


MR. ADAMS:  There is an adjustment associated with the effective cost, right? 


MR. WOLFF:  Right.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you give me the maturities for the debt, the 290 million?


MR. WOLFF:  It matures in May of 2011.


MR. ADAMS:  It is only one maturity date?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  In the evidence, it looked like there was a reference to a single maturity date.  It left open the possibility that there were two, but there is only one maturity date?


MR. WOLFF:  There is only one, the 290 million.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  You discussed the early termination provisions with Mr. Shepherd, so I won't go into that.


Finally, just one question.  I haven't been able to research this debt issuance, but was there a premium at the point of issuance?


MR. WOLFF:  A premium in --


MR. ADAMS:  When you issued the debt, it wasn't you who actually issued the debt, right?  It was your partner?


MR. WOLFF:  It was Borealis.


MR. ADAMS:  Borealis, but the 9.29 was the effective market rate that arose out of that debt issuance?


MR. HERMAN:  It was a market rate, yes.  It sold out.  The bond issue sold out in record time.


MR. ADAMS:  Right, and the 6.29 was the coupon rate that arose from that auction?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Right, okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  The remaining two intervenors, do you have a preference of who would like to go now?


MS. GIRVAN:  I have to go over here.

Questions by Mr. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.  I just, really, a couple of questions.  In CCC 2, the question was about the late payment revenue for 2007 and 2008.  You said that the 2007 forecast has been reduced based on actual late payment revenue in 2007.   Is that an annualized forecast still, or is that just revenue to date? 


MR. MACUMBER:  The number in our response of 292 is only up to October. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay. 


MR. MACUMBER:  So it's not a full year. 


MS. GIRVAN:  So it is not a full-year effect, okay.  I understand that now.  Thanks. 


Then in CCC 3 -- well, it's labelled CCC 3 because it was referring to our original interrogatory.  I'm still trying to understand a little bit more about your load forecasting methodology.  I just want to clarify two points.  One is that you don't incorporate number of customers in your load forecasting methodology; is that correct? 


MR. BONADIE:  That is correct. 


MS. GIRVAN:  And the other is you don't use any use per customer? 


MR. BONADIE:  Sorry? 


MS. GIRVAN:  In terms of developing your loads forecast, you don't look at use per customer? 


MR. BONADIE:  That is correct. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I just wanted to be clear on that.  Then on CCC 5, we were trying to get a better understanding of the implications of the new sub-metering regulation that has come into effect. 


What I get from your answer is that the new sub-metering regulation doesn't really have any impact on your load forecast in 2008; is that correct?  I think what you've said is retrofitting the new units with smart metering to prevent individual suite meeting, you have already built the usage of those customers in your load forecast; right? 


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes. 


MR. BONADIE:  That's correct. 


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes. 


MS. GIRVAN:  So you're saying there is no impact on your load forecast for 2008 related to that regulation? 


MR. MACUMBER:  We didn't build any kind of consumption decrease, assuming that people with individually-metered suites would be able to reduce their consumptions, no. 


MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Then in CCC 10, the reference was that you had a Board-approved forecast for software of 4.7 million, but only spent 1.04 million. 


The answer for this variance was that it is mainly caused by delay in CIS software spending.  So I am assuming, then, that that is moving that -- 


MR. MACUMBER:  We shifted it. 


MS. GIRVAN:  -- shifted into --- 


MR. MACUMBER:  We assumed that we would have been farther along in the project, but to find an appropriate vendor took longer than anticipated. 


MS. GIRVAN:  That particular spending is moving from 2007 to -- 


MR. MACUMBER:  2006 to 2007. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So have you actually -- can you help me with what you have spent to date in that area? 


MR. MACUMBER:  The last time that I have had enough time to look at it was at the end of September, and it was about 3.7 million at that time. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Could you undertake to find that for me? 


MR. MACUMBER:  For October?  Like, it's easier if you go with month end. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, yes.  Whatever works for you. 


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.14. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.14:  PROVIDE RESPONSE TO CCC 10, CIS DOLLARS SPENT TO DATE. 


MR. MACUMBER:  Just the CIS, what we spent? 


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes. 


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Then on CCC 11, we were looking for the forecast of actual energy and demand per customer for each class.  What you have told me is it's not really relevant to developing a load forecast, but you gave me an answer that it's the average residential consumption from 2004 to 2006. 


Are you saying that you only used that in terms of doing your sort of economic feasibility analysis? 


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm only going to respond to what I thought the question was being asked.  I thought that when -- you wanted to know how we came up with the average and what did we use it for? 


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes. 


MR. MACUMBER:  It is usually when a developer comes and says, We're going to build a subdivision.  What is your average consumption, to calculate how much is required for revenue from those new developments, to see if the developer needs to contribute anything. 


MS. GIRVAN:  The economic feasibility? 


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.  That's what we use it for. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you. 


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Energy Probe.

Questions by Dr. Ainslie 


DR. AINSLIE:  I wanted to follow up on a question I raised you with the other day.  I really just need a simple answer, and I think it is a fairly straightforward -- 


MR. FAYE:  Microphone. 


DR. AINSLIE:  The light is on.  Thanks, Julie.  The question was:  What labour performance metrics are tracked by the utility and how are they used?  So just a conceptual description was being posed here.  We've sort of been sitting on this for ten days.  It would be nice to get an answer fast, because I haven't asked for the numbers. 


MR. MORAN:  I think we're going to have to undertake to provide that information.  We haven't -- just to be clear, we haven't been sitting around doing nothing for the last ten days.  


DR. AINSLIE:  No, I understand, but it's all been on the finance stuff, and this is a big, big component of what you folks do, which is on the labour side.  We have only asked one question, so, you know, a little attention, please.  Okay? 


MR. MORAN:  There was a lot of questions thrown at us over the last few days and -- 


DR. AINSLIE:  Sure, but in our informal conversation, I was getting no certain dates from you back, so I am asking you for something fairly quick, because we're going to be meeting tomorrow. 


MR. MUKHERJI:  That will be undertaking JTA.15.  


DR. AINSLIE:  Thank you. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.15:  PROVIDE CONCEPTUAL INFORMATION REGARDING PERFORMANCE METRICS AS USED FOR PROVIDING INCENTIVE PAYMENTS.


MR. MUKHERJI:  What information is that? 


MR. MORAN:  I think Dr. Ainslie is looking for some conceptual information regarding performance metrics as used for providing incentive payments to employees.   


DR. AINSLIE:  Two or three paragraphs. 


MR. MUKHERJI:  Thanks. 


MR. FAYE:  Is that all, Dr. Ainslie? 


DR. AINSLIE:  Yes. 


MR. FAYE:  We still have 20 minutes before our planned break, so if there is no disagreement, if we're still planning for a one o'clock break, we could start on the Board questions, many of which I see there are responses to.  So it may just be a matter of reading the question and acknowledging the response, but if there are follow-up questions that we can cover at the same time, we will try to do that. 

Questions by Mr. Faye


MR. FAYE:  First, Board Question No. 1, referring to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 23.  It asks for an explanation for an apparent discrepancy in miscellaneous revenue number.  The answer has been provided in written form. 


The second question relates to Exhibit C, schedule 3, tab 3 and has to do with the land purchase that's proposed; Mr. Shepherd asked a few questions about.  Most of the questions that were asked in this have been answered in writing.  


I would like to just pursue a couple of the points.  If I understand your response rightly, the facility on Mavis Road is your only facility in the city? 


MR. HERMAN:  That's right. 


MR. FAYE:  So all of your -- 


MR. HERMAN:  We have substations, but they're just -- it's just a substation.  So there is no actual operations or parking or anything going on.  We operate out of one location. 


MR. FAYE:  So all of your trades report to Mavis Road, pick up their trucks and materials and go out from there? 


MR. HERMAN:  Yes. 


MR. FAYE:  In rough geographic terms, is Mavis Road, that facility, about the centre of your distribution area? 


MR. HERMAN:  It is, yes.  That's why that location was chosen. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Have you considered at times possibly introducing some satellite areas as traffic congestion increases in the city? 


MR. HERMAN:  We have considered it, but decided that it is still more effective for our people to be together.  All of our crews meet and they will sometimes have meetings in the morning.  We prefer to have them in one place. 


MR. FAYE:  Do your technical people, your trades people, work on all of your system voltages or do some work in the south end on 27.6 and some work in the north end on 44 kV?


MR. HERMAN:  They all work on all voltages.  We have some distinction between overhead and underground, but not by voltage. 


MR. FAYE:  A final question on that subject.  The approximate value of the property is 750,000 per acre.  Have you checked to see whether that is a reasonable figure to be assuming? 


MR. HERMAN:  We will be doing an evaluation, as they will be.  They will get an assessment of their property.  This is the early stage.  They believe they know the value of it. 


MR. FAYE:  So you anticipate the purchase price being based on some form of negotiation?


MR. HERMAN:  Well, an initial assessment and then negotiation, yes.


MR. FAYE:  And the assessment would be conducted by who?


MR. HERMAN:  The Region of Peel will use an independent third party to do an assessment.


MR. FAYE:  So it will be a certified land appraiser comes in and appraises the property, and that is the starting point for your negotiation?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The Board technical Question No. 3 is related to rolling stock.  It appears that Enersource has provided written answers to this.  I would just like to take a moment to scan down that.  


Starting at the top of the chart that lists the rolling stock to be replaced in 2008, and this is comparable to the 2007 table on page 30 of the system capacity report, the first three vehicles are cars that are going to cost in the neighbourhood of $47,000.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  If I remember right, in the 2007 report, there were a number of cars, as well, that were in the 52 to $53,000 range.  Am I correct in that recollection?


MR. HERMAN:  Offhand, we have very defined amounts based on position.  These cars are the executive vehicles as part of our compensation package.  This year, the amount that was approved was $47,200.  I don't believe -- we're not allowed to buy vehicles for more than that, so there might have been --


MR. MACUMBER:  There are different levels, though, of how much people are allowed to purchase, too.  The three that may have come up for 2008 may be lower values than what was in 2007.  So based on position in the compensation, it could be different.


MR. HERMAN:  There is only one that is higher.


MR. MACUMBER:  But I think though --


MR. HERMAN:  The CEO's.


[Panel confers]


MR. MACUMBER:  We will have to look at the --


MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry?


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm sorry, we're going to have to actually look at what was provided for 2007 and 2008, and then we will give you --


MR. FAYE:  We will attempt to turn it up here, while I continue with this question.  How many company vehicles are provided to employees in this fashion?  These are vehicles for that individual employee's use, is that right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  I believe there are eight.  It's just the senior executive of both the corporation and Hydro Mississauga.


MR. FAYE:  If you look at your filing, the system capacity report, on page 30 --


MR. MORAN:  Do you have a reference?


MR. FAYE:  Let me see if I can give you that.  It looks like Exhibit C, schedule 4, tab 1, page 30.  Have you got that turned up?


MR. MORAN:  Page 30?


MR. FAYE:  Yes.


[Panel confers]


MR. MORAN:  Maybe in the interests of time, we will undertake to provide a response.  Perhaps you could state the specific question you have.


MR. FAYE:  I am interested in knowing, A: how many positions in the company are afforded these kind of vehicles; B: the fact that some of them seem to be in the 50,000 range, some of them seem to be in the high 40s.  What's the distinction drawn between those two?  Who gets what?  C part would be:  There are six vehicles being replaced on the 2007 schedule, and there appear to be three more being replaced on the 2008 schedule, and is that consistent with the number of positions in the corporation that are authorized to have this benefit?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  There are very limited people authorized to have this benefit.  In fact, it's mandatory.  We don't have a choice.


Then it goes by level.  There is EVPs and CEO get a higher amount than vice presidents.  That's the distinction.  We're just trying to reconcile it back to the numbers, but it's that simple.


MR. FAYE:  That's fair enough.  Do you benchmark that against what other utilities provide their senior executives?


MR. HERMAN:  We have checked, yes, with other utilities in the past, and we have checked with what the City of Mississauga pays as our shareholder.  We know what they do with their vehicles.  And then it's sort of an ad hoc basis, but with other people we also ask what they do and we're also sort of testing to see if we're in the right range.


MR. FAYE:  Have you found that to be comparable?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  The only distinction is some lease, whereas we prefer to buy.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think you have just sort of segued into my next question.  It appears that there is a three-year life cycle on these vehicles.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  I wonder if you have considered not purchasing them, but leasing them, and if you have, what the economic difference is for you?


MR. HERMAN:  We have considered it and we have, in fact, leased.  We went through one cycle of leasing and we found that it did not work out in our favour because we had some excess mileage charges.  There were some issues around it.  We went back to purchasing the vehicles.


MR. FAYE:  Just for my information, this is capital?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And it forms part of your rate base?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  So you get a return on this as well as you would get on any part of your rate base, is that right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  But in the case of a lease, that would be an expensed item in the year it is incurred?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And there would be no issue of any return on investment, then?


MR. HERMAN:  No.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  On the second page of your response, in how the old vehicles are disposed of:

"Executive vehicles will first be offered to the current driver at fair market value."

I guess I have two questions there.


Presumably, the current driver is getting the new vehicle that has just been -- it's on the schedule to be ordered for him, and I wonder what's the logic of offering the person the old vehicle at the same time.


MR. MACUMBER:  Due to the way that their contract is stipulated, they have the option to purchase the car.  Assuming they really like the car and they want a second car, they can purchase it themselves.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So this is an en employment contract issue?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. HERMAN:  That's very infrequently used.  Most people just turn their cars in at the end of the three years.


MR. MUKHERJI:  I just want to -- Pat, you have JTA.16 as an undertaking; right?


MR. MORAN:  Actually, we're just asking ourselves that.  Is there an undertaking at this point?  We're not sure if there is.


MR. FAYE:  I think maybe those questions have been answered, who gets what, cost of the vehicles and the distinction between them.  I think we can just withdraw that undertaking.


Well, if the current driver refuses, and as what I hear you saying is it is pretty common they do refuse --


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  -- it now goes by way of an auction?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Is this a matter of shipping the car out to a recognized auction house or do you hold your own or --


MR. HERMAN:  No.  It is a recognized auction house.


MR. FAYE:  Do you have a sense of what the average mileage would be at the time they're disposed of?


MR. HERMAN:  They vary, but I would think in between 70 and 100,000 kilometres.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Flipping back to page 4 of 53, showing the other transport work equipment that is scheduled to be purchased, and I might refer, also, to the 1997 schedule, but there are a number of bucket trucks here.  I wonder if you could just elaborate on why there's such a variability in the cost of these machines.


MR. HERMAN:  Well, we have bucket trucks with entirely different sizes and capabilities.  Some buckets might be used there for street lighting-type of activities and others have to reach 65-foot poles.  Some are single bucket.  Some are double buckets.  Each one is purchased for a specific usage.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the more expensive units would be the ones with the larger reach?


MR. HERMAN:  And the double buckets, yes.


MR. FAYE:  And doubles, okay.  Looking at the year of the vehicle, would -- for instance, bucket truck unit number 20495, where it looks at estimated unit cost of $372,400 --


MR. HERMAN:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. FAYE:  -- do you know off the top of your head what kind of a bucket truck that would end up being?


MR. HERMAN:  That would be the largest, able to reach the furthest heights, a double bucket and with fibre optic controls.


MR. FAYE:  That's a 1995 model right now that is being replaced; do I read that right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  So the reason that you're going to pay $372,000 is because it's not just a truck, but it's got this great big boom on it and some sophisticated controls?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  What I'm wondering is the chassis is about 12 years old at this point and I wonder if you re-chassis your booms.  Like, this -- the boom that's on the '95 unit right now, could it be transferred to a new chassis and used for another ten years?


MR. HERMAN:  We have done that.  I'm not sure about this specific one.  Our fleet department goes through that evaluation, whether anything can be used.


MR. FAYE:  And you have a written evaluation from your fleet department whenever something of that kind of magnitude comes up, that kind of cost?


MR. HERMAN:  I don't see that personally, so I would be guessing, but they do -- they go through that evaluation.


MR. FAYE:  Would you be able to submit that kind of evaluation for these very large numbers, the 200,000, the $190,000, those four bucket trucks?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Would you be able to undertake to get the fleet report or whatever was done to justify the purchase?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.16.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.16:  TO PROVIDE EXPLANATION OF BUCKET TRUCK EXPENSES.


MR. FAYE:  Moving down the list --


MR. MORAN:  That's just for the bucket trucks you're talking about?


MR. FAYE:  Just for the buckets, yes.  


The pick-up trucks seem to range on this list from 35- to 40,000.  On the 1997 list they look like they go from 30- to 50,000.  I wonder what causes that differential?


MR. HERMAN:  Pickup trucks -- well, they're all called pick-up trucks.  There is a wide range.  Some people only need two-wheel drive.  Some only need, you know, the front seat to hold three people.  Some of them have to have extra capacity for carrying crews.  Some have to have, you know, four wheels at the back because of the load they're carrying.  Each one is --


MR. FAYE:  It is really a model thing, an F150 versus an F350 sort of thing?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Fine.  The next item on that list are minivans, and these numbers look extraordinarily large for minivans. $55,000, I wonder if you can just elaborate on what that comprises?


MR. MACUMBER:  We mentioned before that when we buy a vehicle, it may not meet our purposes.  So the van itself may be -- from the dealer may be less expensive, but we customize it for our needs.  So there will be shelving and other things done to the vehicle to suit our purposes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So this is racking inside to hold equipment?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Any exterior modifications made to them?  Do they have to have sun roofs put in so people can read a drawing back there or something?


MR. HERMAN:  Not sun roofs, but there will be -- for example, they will be equipped with, say, a generator and an electrical outlet and lighting and...


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that's all of the questions I have on that particular one, and since it is very close to one o'clock, I think maybe we should adjourn for lunch and we will reconvene at 2 o'clock.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:58 p.m. SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

--- Upon resuming at 1:57 p.m. 


MR. FAYE:  I will reconvene the technical conference.  Mr. Harper is here representing VECC and has a half an hour during which he will be able to examine the panel.  So I will turn it over to Bill. 


MR. HARPER:  Thank you very much for indulging my time constraints. 

Questions by Mr. Harper


MR. HARPER:  I had sent in a number of questions to Enersource about a week ago, and but I think I got back answers on most of them.  Actually, what I have mainly is just some questions clarification on some of them so some of them we can skip right over and some of them I can deal with.  The first one is a follow-up one, number 2, which was I guess dealing with the land purchase, you were showing in your application of two-and-a-half million dollars.  I think us discussed that somewhat more in response to your Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1.  It looked to me like the main rationale for it was the need for additional parking for additional employees.  It looked to be about a 10 percent different between the two numbers.  I was actually questioning to some extent a little bit more the rationale as to what the need of -- whether there was some need other than just parking, what you needed the additional land for, and why did you need to spend that much money for 30 more parking spots and whether other options were explored. 


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  It was primarily for parking, but we also need some pole storage and we will have the opportunity to reconfigure a driveway.  We have a very sort of awkward unsafe driveway, in my opinion.  Land is the most important thing to us.  Also, we have been squeezed for quite some time, and it sometimes varies, based on the type of year.  When we bring in summer students, for example, we have parking issues, or if we get too many visitors coming in, or we have a board meeting, our board members try to park.  So it has been bothering us for a long time and we have also tried different things.  We have actually rented property somewhere else and had a rule where any employees hired beyond a certain date, they had to go and park elsewhere, and that didn't work out well because there was no bus service on Mavis Road.  We have been struggling with the land issue for some time.  An opportunity like this doesn't come up very often because we are landlocked.  We have a railway track on the one side and Region of Peel on the other.  Finally, it looks like we may have the opportunity to expand. 


MR. HARPER:  This was a fixed parcel of land. It was an all-or-nothing parcel of land, is that a fair statement? 


MR. HERMAN:  Yes. 


MR. HARPER:  Okay, thanks.  On number 3, the question I asked had to do with your response to VECC Question 

No. 15.  That was VECC IR No. 15, dealing with your estimates of working capital requirements.  I was just wanting to clarify that.  You characterize, in the chart, these as a low and high.  And then I was just wondering whether these -- actually it would be fair to compare these with the type of working capital requirements you would normally do through a lead-lag study.  You were trying to rough-estimate, come up with the same sort of number, looking at your leads and lags between revenues coming in and cash going out.  This was really your sort of rough estimate of trying to come up with what would be a comparable number for the working cash side of it? 


MS. LITT:  Actually, it was a little different.  It was to try to figure out if we were within the range of reasonability. 


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Thanks.  The next one was to do with your response to No. 6, which was the schedule around the CDM adjustments that you made to your load forecast for 2008. I just want to be perfectly clear that the CDM adjustments that you showed there were incremental savings for 2008, over and above savings that had been achieved in previous years? 


MR. HERMAN:  Yes. 


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes. 


MR. HARPER:  You looked at, so it was savings, you were claiming savings in there claimed for SSM and LRAM dealing with 2006 programs which would -- those savings will continue on in 2007 and 2008, but those savings aren't included in that. It is incremental savings from new stuff going on and specifically in 2008, is what you're claiming there. 


MR. MACUMBER:  If I am correct, the LRAM and SSM is for 2005 and most of 2006. 


MR. BONADIE:  April 30th, 2006. 


MR. MACUMBER:  April 30th, 2006.  The amount we put in for 2008 is future programs, or the further reductions due to conservation. 


MR. HARPER:  That's fine.  I just wanted to clarify that it was incremental over and above what you built into the LRAM and SSM calculations already. 


Actually, I was looking at your response to Question No. 7, where you were dealing with, again, with sort of the additional staff that was coming on board, what the areas were. 


What struck me when I was looking at that was that I think there were a total of about 13 new positions in 2008, if I'm not mistaken. 


MR. MACUMBER:  That was not -- 13 new positions that wouldn't have been in 2007 that have been budgeted for 2008. 


MR. HARPER:  Right.  Right.  What struck me out of that, actually, was it seemed to me about a third of those, actually four of those were specifically in the IT area.  So it seemed the IT area was picking up a fairly major portion of your additional staff requirements for 2008. 


I was just wondering if you could maybe just give me an overview of what's going on in the IT area that requires such a major sort of increase in staff relative to, say, other areas of the business.


MR. HERMAN:  In IT, you might say there was a lag or quiet period for a number of years, and now we have some significant projects going on.  Our CIS system and our integrated operating model and these things, it's a different technology and requires some additional skills.  For example, a database administrator, we never needed that on the old Orcom system, but on a Unix platform, you need the database administrator.  So there is the sort of new needs cropping up. 


As technology changes, they have this thing now called middleware, which makes it easier to interface with all of your systems, because there are many systems interfacing with each other, and then you need a middleware type of person.  So there are new skills that we just, we don't have in-house, and have never had. 


So the technology is driving us into new areas, new skills 


MR. HARPER:  Maybe just to clarify, some of these systems you talk about are new systems that you are putting in place.  So would the staff that are working on these new systems, would much of this cost actually end up being capitalized because they are either working on new systems that are being put in place, or was most of this, like, going to be end up being expensed in terms of its ongoing expense? 


MR. MACUMBER:  It would go from, my premise, when we put together the budgets we would have added somebody to OM&A costs for the portion that we believed would be operating expenses.  If they were working on something that would be capitalized, we would estimate how much would go to capital.  The need for these positions is to support not only the implementation of it, but the ongoing aspects, which would be operating. 


MR. HARPER:  That was where I was going next, in terms of whether in the long-term these were sort of, you know, more short term implementation positions or whether they were sort of going to be needed on an ongoing basis going forward to support the operation of the systems. 


MR. HERMAN:  If they were short-term, then we would go the contract route. 


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Actually, in looking at your response to Question No. 8, which I had, which was dealing with the extent to which you capitalize cost in your various construction programs -- and I just want to be clear, from the answer that I got here -- that really you don't capitalize any general admin or general overhead costs into your construction projects. 


All you capitalize are sort of immediate labour burdens and immediate material burdens associated with sort of the acquisition of materials? 


MR. MACUMBER:  That's correct. 


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Is any particular reason why you don't sort of capitalize any of those others, you know, support related costs that would be associated with supporting your capital programs? 


MR. MACUMBER:  I guess I am only going to take the assumption that were concerned that the admin part of it isn't adding value to the capital.  So there is paperwork and admin stuff that might be there, and admin costs, but it's not really adding value to the capital, so we're not capitalizing any kind of burden associated with that. 


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  I want to turn to No. 9, which was dealing with, I guess, the response to VECC IR No. 23 where we were asking for some of the other details many some of the other expenses.  One of the things that jumped out at me was the number you reported there around the retail transaction hub costs. 


I guess I was curious about sort of the increase in the number, and I asked you about that and you gave me a response.  I am just trying to understand the response to some extent. 


It sounded to me like what you were saying is that the numbers shown for 2006 was effectively all of your retail hub transaction costs, less the revenues that you had received from retailers for charges that you made to them in 2006. 


MR. MACUMBER:  Right. 


MR. HARPER:  So it was a net number effectively, all of your costs less the revenues you received.  Is that correct? 


MR. MACUMBER:  That's my understanding. 


MR. BONADIE:  Yes. 


MR. HARPER:  Now would that 130, would it normally be, then, booked to your RCVA account? 


MR. BONADIE:  That is correct, yes. 


MR. HARPER:  So that it wouldn't actually show up as an expense on your statement.  You know, from a regulatory perspective, it would be booked to, basically, a deferral account. 


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.  That is part of 1518, I think.  


MR. HARPER:  Right, so when I come to 2007 and 2008, which are a little over 300,000 apiece, I was trying to understand your response there.  There you were saying that the numbers there represent Enersource's forecasts of revenue from those retailers, which exclude the costs associated with the hub. 


So I think of revenues excluding costs, I would have thought I would see a negative number, to tell you the honest truth, so I was trying to reconcile that with the $300,000 I was seeing there. 


MR. MACUMBER:  What we try to do when we do our budget is we assume those costs are, in essence, a flow-through.  So we budget the costs and we budget the revenue.  For seven and eight, we assume they net each other, so you will see it in the expense, but it's also in a revenue reduction. 


MR. HARPER:  So there is an equivalent offset shown in the other revenues? 


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes. 


MR. HARPER:  That's what I was trying to understand. 


MR. MACUMBER:  They net to zero. 


MR. HARPER:  That's great, thanks. 


I just had -- in Question No. 10, I was asking you for a little bit more, and you pointed out to me attached to Staff Interrogatory No. 49 was more details on the calculation of SSM and the LRAM.  In looking at the lost revenue adjustment mechanism calculation, I was looking at the -- say for the residential class, you use the variable of the volumetric energy rate there to calculate what's the lost revenue. 


Does that volumetric rate include both the portion from the distribution revenue as well as the rate rider volumetric rate? Or is it just the distribution revenue, the distribution portion of the volumetric rate? 


MR. BONADIE:  Sorry, I didn't understand the question.  


MR. HARPER:  When you do your lost revenue adjustment mechanism calculations on the spreadsheet attached to Staff IR No. 49, you show the -- you say the kilowatt-hours saved for residential customers, and you multiply that by a volumetric rate for each particular year.


I was just seeking clarification, in terms of whether the volumetric rate you used included the recovery of the volumetric portion -- that basically picks up the regulatory asset recovery, it's the rate rider portion of your volumetric charges, or whether it just included, say, the straight period distribution portion of your volumetric charges?


MR. BONADIE:  No, it's with the rate rider.


MR. HARPER:  It's with the rate rider.  So would you see yourself, in terms of that portion of the LRAM recovery, the portion that is associated with the rate rider, booking that to your regulatory asset recovery?  Because that's effectively what you were losing was a regulatory asset recovery.


[Panel confers]


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what you're trying to get at is, when we did the LRAM calculation, you used the volumetric with the rate rider.


MR. HARPER:  Correct.


MR. MACUMBER:  Which we're saying we did.  Now your question is:  Would that not be in the rate rider piece that -- like, there's no real lost revenue; you're recovering it?


MR. HARPER:  Right.  That's right.  There is no real lost revenue, or, if you get that revenue, you should really book that revenue as a recovery against your regulatory asset account, because that's what the rate rider was for?


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.  It wasn't done.


MR. HARPER:  Okay, fine.  Actually, the only reason I am asking you was I was going through a couple of other utilities and they weren't doing it either, sort of thing.  I was just seeing to what extent this was a pervasive problem across more than one utility.


MR. MACUMBER:  We just took the volumetric and applied it.


MR. HARPER:  The other thing I may just note on Question No. 10 that you may want to clarify for the record, I think, is the response is correct, but I guess I think in terms of when you circulated the answers, the question wasn't the right question.  It is a different question.  I think you picked up IR No. 10 instead of Technical Conference Issue No. 10.  I don't know whether you want to clarify that, sort that out for the record or not, but the response really doesn't make much sense relative to the question.  That is, the question is wrong, but the answer is right.


If I turn to Question No. 11; again, I just wanted to be clear here.  When you were sort of setting your charges for services provided to affiliates, you -- again, it's basically just the direct costs you're using.  You don't include any overheads or admin burden or anything into the costs that you charge your affiliates for services?


MR. MACUMBER:  We don't mark it up, no.


MR. HARPER:  I understand from the answer, I guess if you're providing a service that requires an asset support, you do mark it up for return on assets?


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.


MR. HARPER:  That's I think what you were clarifying in the answer, but over and above that, there is no other markups on the services --


MR. MACUMBER:  No.


MR. HARPER:  -- that you provide?


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.


MR. HARPER:  Do you know, in terms of -- I believe the corporation charges you for services, like, basically dealing with I guess, you know, sort of corporate governance and issues like that, and sort of senior management.  When they charge you, is there a markup for admin on the charges they make to you, or is it just a straight cost?


MR. MACUMBER:  I work for the corporation.


MR. HARPER:  Right, okay.


MR. MACUMBER:  There is no markup.  It is done at cost.


MR. HARPER:  Both are done in the same way?


MR. MACUMBER:  Same basis.


MR. HARPER:  The last one I had was just in terms of No. 13.  Actually, when you gave the answer here, there was sort of, "The calculation is provided below."  I wasn't too sure.  There was nothing following that in the file that I got, and whether that was just you ran out of time or I got a bad file or what, I'm not too sure.


MR. HERMAN:  Can you answer that?


MS. LITT:  Sorry, could you ask the question again, please?


MR. HARPER:  On the last question I asked, which was dealing with the cost allocation, the response you gave, the last sentence says, "The calculation is provided below."  Actually, that was the end of my file.  I had nothing after that.  So I wasn't too sure whether I got a bad file or just everybody got a bad file.


MR. MORAN:  We will give an undertaking to provide what is missing.


MR. HARPER:  Okay.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.17.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.17:  PROVIDE CORRECTED CALCULATION OF TRANSFORMER ALLOWANCE EFFECT IN RESPONSE TO VECC IR NO. 13.


MR. HARPER:  Maybe I could just ask if somebody could maybe just explain a little bit more clearly.  If I understand correctly, what the issue was here was that the issue was a concern about whether or not, when the revenue-to-cost ratios were calculated for the different classes, whether the revenues for those classes that got a transformed ownership allowance was actually reduced by the discount that they got.  Was that the issue?


MS. LITT:  So the issue is the approved distribution rates are somewhat higher than the actual distribution rate paid because of the operation of the transformer allowance.


MR. HARPER:  Right.


MS. LITT:  Those revenue-to-cost ratios are based on the authorized distribution rates.  So all other things being equal, those revenues are somewhat higher than they ought to otherwise be.


MR. HARPER:  You mentioned here that impacting on the large user class.  I guess that would impact on any class that receives a transformer ownership allowance?


MS. LITT:  And it is most pronounced for the large user class because, going on memory, all nine members of that class are eligible for the transformer allowance.


MR. HARPER:  Right.


MS. LITT:  Yes.


MR. HARPER:  Okay, fine.  Those are all of my questions, then.  Thank you very much.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Harper.  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to recommence where you left off?

Further questions by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am indeed totally refreshed.  I just want to follow up on Bill's last question.  I take it, then, your revenue-to-cost ratios are not actually reflective -- some classes are not actually reflective of the true ratio because of the transformer allowance?


MS. LITT:  That's one of the reasons why they're not reflective, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have corrected calculations to take that into account?


MS. LITT:  I think that is what the undertaking is asking us to provide.  That corrected calculation would be just to deal with the transformer allowance effect in isolation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent, okay.


So I am on my question 40, which reads -- this refers to JA page 63 and 64, it says:

"Please provide the board minutes referred to.  Please provide any variance explanations provided to the board or senior management in respect to material overspending."


Now, in your written answer, somehow a gremlin has gotten in and put a different question in there, also the correct question, but a different question.  You answered the different question, which I didn't need, but you didn't answer the question that I put, which is:  First, can we have the board minutes?  Then the second is:  There's some material overspending from budget to forecast, and presumably you've had to explain that to your board.  May we have a copy of those explanations?


MR. HERMAN:  The only material overspending issue that we have had and that had to be taken to the board is our CIS system, and we can provide that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These other ones like, for example, you've got about, what, a 14 percent overspending in substation in grounds and buildings, for example.  You don't have to answer for that to the board, or the next line, as well?  There are several.


MR. HERMAN:  If an individual project goes bad, so to speak, like CIS, we have to go back to the board.  If we approve, the senior management approves, of some spending, if something comes up during the year that is going to cost more and that is approved by us, then it doesn't go before the board.  It's more if something goes wrong and we have to explain why it went wrong.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there no limit to that?  Like, normally, when a board approves a budget -- the board approves your budget; right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Normally when a board approves a budget, they say, As long as you stay within this budget, have a good time and come back and tell us if you're outside of the budget.  Sometimes they give you a 5 percent leeway or even a 10 percent sometimes.  It sounds like you don't have any limit.


MR. HERMAN:  We work within the budget.  If our total budget is going to go over, we have to advise the board of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know your total budget is going over.  You reported it right here.  Did you advise your board?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  We report all of the financials to the board, but in terms of them needing sort of a detailed explanation of why something went wrong, the one they were interested in was the CIS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, with respect to the board minutes that approved this, can you undertake to provide these those?  I don't need the whole minutes, just the part that approved the budget.


MR. MORAN:  You want a copy of the board resolution, saying the budget is approved?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want the section dealing with the budget.  It won't just be a resolution.  There will be a description of the discussion and then the resolution, typically.


MR. MORAN:  We will take it under advisement.  We will advise.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have an undertaking number for that?


MR. FAYE:  Can you just tell us what you are taking under advisement, Mr. Moran?


MR. MORAN:  The request that Mr. Shepherd just made.


MR. FAYE:  And that request concerned board deliberations on budgetary matters?


MR. HERMAN:  No.  Specifically, the overspend on the CIS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no, sorry.  When you had your budget originally approved --


MR. HERMAN:  Yes?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had to take that to the board.  The board had a discussion about it, minuted it, and had a resolution to approve it, right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that section of the minutes that deals with the discussion and the resolution approving it, that's what I would like to have.


MR. MORAN:  For the 2007 budget?


MR. SHEPHERD:  2007 budget.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't done the 2008 budget yet.


MR. MORAN:  No.  I am just making sure we have the record straight.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have the 2008 budget, we will take that too.


MR. FAYE:  That will be JTA.18.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.18:  ENERSOURCE BOARD MINUTES RE 2007 BUDGET (UNDER ADVISEMENT)


MR. SHEPHERD:  Question 41 deals with board compensation and this refers to JA 66.  If I understand your answer, you answered questions with respect to the Hydro Mississauga board, but of course the issues with respect to board compensation in the context of Enersource have always been at the Enersource Corporation board.


So I am asking you to provide the compensation for all board members at the Enersource Corporation board, and how much of that was passed through to the utility.


[Panel confers]


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm just saying there is another IR somewhere, where they asked for the corporation's -- the board for each year.  And we gave the amount that is paid by Hydro each year.  There is another -- not for each board member, but the total amount for the Enersource board.  We have a --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, this is in your affiliate allocation chart?


MR. WOLFF:  No.


MR. MACUMBER:  One specific question about our board, and we provided that data.  We just have to find the actual IR that --


MR. MORAN:  We're trying to remember who asked the question that we gave the answer to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't recall seeing that question, so -- but I will take your word for it.  In any case, what I am asking for is different.  What I am asking for is a list, what did you pay each board member, and --


MR. WOLFF:  We didn't provide that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which has been made public a number of times in the past, so it is not like it is news.  Well, it is news, in fact.  It has been controversial, as you know.


What you are paying each board member in 2007, and how much of that total is going to Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. WOLFF:  You want it for 2007?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  What is this we have here?  Actually, 2007 and 2008 would be good, especially if it is changing.


MR. MORAN:  I would have thought that all you need is what's happening in 2008, because it doesn't matter what was happening in 2007.  It's changing anyway.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  In fact, if there is a change -- if there is no change, if the same principles are being applied and you're just -- the numbers are slightly different in 2008, then I don't care, you're right.  But because there's been a whole lot of political things going on about this, I suspect that there probably is a change from 2007 to 2008, and so I think it is important that the Board see that.


MR. MORAN:  A change in the actual compensation, yes, I think that's not -- that's not controversial.  I think that has happened, right.  So the question is whether there is a change in the allocation to Hydro; that's what you want to know as well?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, sure.


MR. FAYE:  That will be JTA.19.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.19:  to provide the level of compensation for board members paid in 2007, and THE portion allocated to Hydro, and the same information on a forecast basis for 2008


MR. MORAN:  JTA, sorry, number?


MR. FAYE:  Nineteen.


MR. MORAN:  Is to provide the level of compensation for board members that was paid in 2007, and what portion that was allocated to Hydro, and the same information on a forecast basis for 2008?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  I don't want you to tell me how much of each person's compensation was allocated to Hydro.  Just the total is fine.


MR. MORAN:  No, no, I understand.  I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be unreasonable.


MR. MACUMBER:  He's saying he doesn't need it by individual.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that is important, the allocation.


[Panel confers]


MR. SHEPHERD:  When we are testing the prudence of the individual amounts, who the person is, is going to be relevant, particularly when there are politicians involved.  That's a live issue.


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay.  I just wanted to be clear.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In your materials, in your pile of tax materials, you include a notice of assessment.  The notice of assessment doesn't have any numbers in it.  It has only zeros.  Notices of assessment typically have numbers in them.  They show what you filed for, and they show what was assessed.  This has you filing for 000 and being assessed at 000.  That doesn't make sense.  


If this is the only notice of assessment you have, that's fine.  If that's all, that's fine.


MR. MACUMBER:  What answer do you have?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's just unusual.


MR. BONADIE:  This is with respect to question 42?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BONADIE:  The notice of assessment that we had filed was the one that we had received from the Ministry of Finance.  It is with zeros on the document, but it is a corporation notice of assessment for the tax year ending December 31st, 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess what this says, in fact, is "Canada Revenue Agency".  I thought your notice of assessment comes from the Ministry of Finance, doesn't it?


MR. WOLFF:  Just to clarify, is this a question about the reassessment for the audits?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  This is:

"Corporation Notice of Assessment, September 27th, 2007, Taxation year-end December 31st, 2006.  Canada Revenue Agency for Enersource Hydro Mississauga Inc."


What it appears to me is that you've got a nil notice of assessment from the feds, which is fine because you don't owe them any money, but what you don't appear to have filed is the similar notice of assessment for the province, which would have all of the numbers in it.  Unless I have missed it; if I have missed it in here, tell me.  I think you maybe just filed the wrong one.


MR. WOLFF:  We misunderstood.  We will undertake that.


MR. FAYE:  JTA.20.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.20:  TO PROVIDE Ministry of Finance NOTICE OF assessment


MR. MORAN:  The Ministry of Finance assessment, right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that is the one that you would want to file here, because the federal one is really irrelevant to everything, isn't it?  


Now, what we have asked you to do in number 43 is recalculate your PILs -- what we have asked you to do is recalculate the 2008 PILs with three changes.  The first is the expected federal income tax rates that have just been announced which are, what, 19 and a half?


MR. MACUMBER:  Combined, would be 33 and a half.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thirty-three and a half, that's right.  Then, second, with the proposed new CCA rates, so your new distribution assets, for example, are at 6 percent instead of 4 percent, right?  Announced in the last budget.  So with that change, and with the CIS and class change.  So 

50 percent write-off in 2008, 50 percent in 2009.  Okay?


So we have asked you to do that calculation, and then, of PILs.  Then the revenue requirement implication of that, which is just the grossed up amount, right?  So you had a grossed up PILs number in your filed revenue requirement.  I am asking you to do the grossed up PILs number on this basis, so that we can see what the revenue requirement implication is.


Then we're asking you to recalculate that same calculation one other way, and that is with your long-term debt rate being 6.29 percent, your short term debt rate at 4.59 percent and ROE at 8.39 percent.  Those are the current board requirements.


MR. WOLFF:  The long-term debt portion would be 

6.44 percent, taking into account the additional costs at issuance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The amount that Enersource Corporation adds?


MR. WOLFF:  No.  This is Hydro costs.


MR. MACUMBER:  It is similar to 2006 EDR.  It said in the handbook you take your debt rate plus the cost of issuance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you amortize the cost of issuance over the term?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  Okay, 6.44 is fine, yes.  You are correct.  Our next question, question 44 --


MR. FAYE:  Pardon me, Mr. Shepherd.  Was that an undertaking that they just gave you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.  Sorry.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.21:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE TO QUESTION 43 USING 6.44 AND 4.59 PERCENT.


MR. FAYE:  So can we summarize that as just the response that you requested to question 43?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, with the adjustment we made on the record here to 6.44.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.


MR. MORAN:  We not sure that this can be turned around overnight, but we will do our best.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is not that difficult to plug in new numbers.  It is all on a spreadsheet already.


MR. WOLFF:  With 20 others, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not the only thing you have to do, but what I'm saying is it is a ten-minute job.


MR. MACUMBER:  I would still need an opinion on the tax ruling, right, an external one.  I wouldn't just change the number without -- I will need an actual opinion.  


Like, to do a calculation at 50 percent, I mean, that's pretty simple to do.  But to put this altogether and redo the calculations at 6.44 and 4.59, I just -- I want to be clear if this is just calculating some numbers to put on a spreadsheet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking you to agree that this is what your tax is going to be.  All I'm asking you to do is do the math, and then we're going to go into ADR tomorrow and one of the things we're going to talk about is what is the right tax number, but we need the number; right, so we have the two to compare.  That's all.


MR. MORAN:  We understand you're asking for two numbers to be calculated, two things to be calculated?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  We will do our best to turn that around.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Question 44 refers to JA page 73.  You have talked about a tax audit in 2006 and a resulting reassessment.  Can you explain what happened and how it affects your application and your --


MR. WOLFF:  The Ministry of Finance came in to review our 2001 and 2002 tax returns.  As a result of that audit, the Ministry of Finance took the position that some of the deductions that we took in 2001 pertained, in fact, to prior to October 1st and therefore weren't deductible for tax purposes.  So that's one issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't affect the amounts you're applying for in 2008?


MR. WOLFF:  It does, because we're actually asking for a rate rider to clear the reassessment value that's in the deferred tax.  So we're carrying the reassessment amount in the taxes, and that's as per the OEB guidelines on the PILs accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because at that time PILs were flow-through?  In 2001, they were flow-through?


MR. MACUMBER:  There's an actual frequently asked question that came out, and it said:  Use the -- I think it is 1590 -- is it 1590.


MR. BONADIE:  1592.


MR. MACUMBER:  1592 for changes in tax rates, tax reassessments from prior years, and it details what it is.


Because it is in prior years, then it was reassessed after that date that that account was set up.  That's why we booked a reassessment in that account.  So we're asking to clear that account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the tax liability that that generated?


MR. WOLFF:  It was approximately $350,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you asked for this before in a rate case?


MR. WOLFF:  No.


MR. BONADIE:  No, we have not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 350 is the tax liability.  So you then, to recover from ratepayers, you're grossing it up, or not?


MR. MACUMBER:  I don't think we're -- we're just clearing the balance.  We paid it.  We put the balance in, 1592, and we're just asking to clear the balance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So was all of it just disallowed deductions or was there some other component of the reassessment?


MR. WOLFF:  All of it was disallowed deductions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no impact on your UCC for any class?


MR. WOLFF:  No.  Not to my recollection, no, there was no changes in how we handled our CCA classes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And would it change your carry-forwards, but that is still all used up already, anyway, right, loss carry-forwards?


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.  Well, I wouldn't say they're all used up.  Are you talking about the UCC balances as at --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm talking about loss carry-forwards now.  UCC balances didn't change; right?


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These were income statement amounts, not capital amounts?


MR. WOLFF:  Right.  We have no loss carry-forwards.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Was there any impact on cumulative eligible capital?


MR. WOLFF:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The next reference is JA page 78, and this is the page dealing with account 190, is it 190 or 1590?  Sorry, 1590.


What you have in here is interest; right?  What you're allocating here is interest?


MR. BONADIE:  For 1590, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This was originally transition costs; correct?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Weren't transition costs allocated by customer number?


MR. BONADIE:  Customer number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board made a decision in the regulatory assets proceeding.  There are -- some utilities, including Enersource, wanted to allocate based on distribution revenues, and the Board decided, no, the correct allocation is customer numbers.  And it makes a big difference to some customers, like Schools.


If this is the interest on that amount, we're wondering why it is not allocated the same way as the transition costs themselves.


MR. BONADIE:  We can go back and adjust for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you take a look and see whether it is consistent with the Board's original order?


MR. BONADIE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  The undertaking is to confirm whether the interest is being allocated consistently with the underlying Reg assets?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.22.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.22:  CONFIRM WHETHER INTEREST IS BEING ALLOCATED CONSISTENTLY WITH UNDERLYING REG ASSETS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next item relates to CDM programs and it refers to JA 42.  I guess, in fairness, it is a bit of a trick question.  It says:

"Please provide the number of participants that were schools, the savings for those participants and the incentive paid to those participants for each of those programs."


Tell me if the correct answer is zero.


MR. HERMAN:  Zero.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There were no schools participating in any of your CDM programs in this year; right?


MR. HERMAN:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is this your whole third tranche?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  That third tranche is finished, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  So no schools participated.  Can you tell me why?


MR. HERMAN:  What I heard, they had some difficulties getting any response from schools.  They got a bit of response from the Region of Peel to do some things in the city, but they didn't get anything from schools.  But we also didn't have -- a lot of the programs were related more to consumer-type things, giving out light bulbs, an awful lot of light bulbs, and Christmas lights and special events plans.  We didn't really have anything targeted for schools.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Question 47 is another one of the interminable calculation questions, and it refers to JA page 94, which talks about different capital structures and asks you to confirm a calculation based on long-term debt at 6.29, short-term debt at 4.59 and equity at 8.39.


Now, I understand that you would want to correct the 6.29 to 6.44, but, subject to that, can you confirm or calculate the weighted average cost of capital on that basis, and the impact on revenue requirement of that change?  It should be about $2-1/2 million, I think.  That's undertaking --


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.23.


MR. WOLFF:  And that is everything else being held constant?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.23:  CALCULATE THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF CAPITAL ON THAT BASIS, AND THE IMPACT ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT OF THAT CHANGE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean, obviously some of these are so that we can go into ADR knowing what we're negotiating about.


Now the next one is a cost allocation question, and I know this is probably something that can't be done quickly, but -- and you are providing some new revenue-to-cost ratio information which may affect this, I know -- but this refers to JA 101, and asks you to:

"Refile the bill impacts in Exhibit H, schedule 5 on the basis that rates are set in 2008 to comply with the following cost allocation and rate design principles.  Those principles are:  No class has a revenue to cost ratio of more than 110 percent; street-lighting revenue to cost ratio is 90 percent.  The two classes, residential and GS 500 to 4999, that are below 100 percent are proportionately increased to make up the revenue difference, and the fixed charge in GS under 50 class is set to recover 50 percent of the class responsibility for revenue requirement." 


Now, I take it that those calculations are ones that you can do on the rate chart and the bill impact spreadsheet will flow through from that, I believe.


I know it is not a trivial task, but I think it is not also an impossible task, so I am asking you to undertake to provide those calculations.


MR. MUKHERJI:  JTA.24.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.24:  TO PROVIDE SPECIFIED CALCULATIONS


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one refers to JE -- 


MR. MORAN:  Sorry on that last one, again, depending on how much work, we will do our best to turn this around as quickly as we can, but as you said, it's not a trivial task.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I can tell you that I actually did the calculation the other day, and I don't have the full data that you have, but getting pretty close took about an hour. So you know, I mean I understand you have a lot to do, but this is going to be an important issue in the proceeding, so if you can give it to us.


The next item is – and I am almost finished -- 

Exhibit J, schedule E, the first question of VECC.  In the first attachment at page 6, there is a reference to -- I am just looking for it here.


You asked for deferral accounts -- this is in your 2006 EDR, I think.


MR. MORAN:  Which attachment are you looking at?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The first attachment to that question 1, VECC Question No. 1.  It's the decision of Mr. Vlahos and Mr. Betts, dated April 12th, 2006.  At page 6 of that decision, you asked for two deferral accounts to track costs associated with the CIS and with the implementation of risk management initiatives.


So the question we have asked is:  

"Please identify all costs related to the CIS and risk management in 2006 and 2007 that would have gone into those deferral accounts but for the fact that you weren't allowed them; and how have those costs been dealt with in this application?"


Your answer may be:  We weren't allowed to recover them.  They're gone.  Or your answer may be:  Some of them are capitalized and they're in the CIS cost.


MR. MACUMBER:  I was going to say, CIS had been deferred in 2006.  We moved it into 2007 and 2008, so it is included in our rate application as a capital cost.


The risk management, we have absorbed the cost for 2006 and 2007, and the expected cost in 2008 and on an ongoing basis is what we applied for in this rate application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you were asking for this deferral account for the CIS in 2006, that was because you expected it to be in service before you would have a cost-of-service application?


MR. MACUMBER:  That was the origin intent, that -- we thought we would have the CIS up and running before we actually rebased our rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, and so because you didn't have the deferral account, you deferred the project until --


MR. MACUMBER:  No, no.  The deferral of the project really came down to which vendor we were going to choose.


MR. HERMAN:  And the partners.  We couldn't get our partners together.  We thought we were further along in terms of partnership arrangements, and then it collapsed on us and we had to start all over again to find a new partner.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had the whole CLD in it, at one point?


MR. HERMAN:  At one time, yes, but they all walked away. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the next question, question 50 -- 


MR. MUKHERJI:  Sorry to interrupt.  Was that an undertaking?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it wasn't.  It was answered.


Refers to JE page 3.  You were asked about whether your criteria for operating performance were similar to your neighbouring utilities'.  You said you didn't know.


So our question is, what are the sources of performance criteria in use by Enersource, other than comparison with neighbouring distributors?  What do you use to set your standards, if you're not comparing yourself with other distributors?


MR. HERMAN:  For one, for example, reliability, we cast a further net.  We compared to North American utilities, whatever data we could get our hands on.  We don't just compare to our neighbours.  In other cases, we don't have good information for this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But for example, one of the things is the 300 amp performance criteria, you tried not to load more than 300 amp on a 600 amp circuit, right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where did that come from?


MR. HERMAN:  That came from our engineers, and the fundamental principle that the way you keep your distribution system up and running is to be able to have flexibility in your system, to be able to switch feeders.  If you have, say, cable failure, you just switch it to another feeder.  The only way you can do it is if they're loaded to 300 amps.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think that is a standard that other utilities follow as well?


MR. HERMAN:  We think so, but we're not concerned with others.  We can't have the flexibility we need unless we do that.  If you have a feeder loaded at, say, 450, you will have no switching capability and the customers will simply be without power.  So we just believe so strongly in that reliability aspect of it that we build our system to that standard.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. HERMAN:  And we're under pressure.  We have a mayor on our board who wants to know that these people will not be without power.  We have some important businesses in Mississauga, pharmaceuticals and data centres and whatnot, and reliability is just everything to us.  This is one of the cornerstones of keeping the feeders at the 50 percent level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do your SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI and all of those measures compare to other utilities?


MR. HERMAN:  We are much better than most.  We are always very close to the best.  Occasionally some utility will beat us for it.  It used to be Winnipeg, but they have slipped away.  Someone else will pop up, but we're always very close to the best.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this a requirement that the shareholder specifically asks you to meet, to make reliability a higher priority?  Clearly it is higher priority with you than a lot of the others.


MR. HERMAN:  It is not just the shareholders.  We have signs all over our building saying "reliability is our product".  That's just what we -- maybe that is what our customers want.  That's what we believe and why we work there, and we're just driven to have good reliability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now that reliability comes at a cost, right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you keep any metrics on the incremental cost of being the most reliable distributor anywhere?


MR. HERMAN:  We do.  If we had horrible rates and all of the economic development was moving away to neighbouring utilities, you know, we would have a problem with that.  We feel comfortable where our rates are.  We do keep an eye on the other side of it.  Also, by having this good reliability, by building your system in the proper way, there's savings elsewhere while others are, you know, running out trying to fix things, doing things more on a reactionary basis.  That can cost money, too, whereas ours is a little more planned.  We build the system to be reliable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Question 51 refers to JE 21.  This is some details on the components that went into your working capital calculation.  So we have asked you for two of those components, because you have ranges in each case, the cost of power component, 35 million to 72 million per month, and the other regulated charges component, 9 to 18 million per month.


We have asked you to provide greater details on why you have -- how you got that range and a monthly chart of those -- of the actuals for 2006 and 2007 with your forecast for 2008.


Clearly those amounts drive your working capital number, your working capital numbers, I think.  So can you -- first of all, let's start with the first part.


Where did you get the range for cost of power and the range for other regulated charges?  How did you come up with those numbers?


MS. LITT:  I had conversations with the treasurer to try to come up with a reasonability estimate to know if it was appropriate to use the 15 percent ratio applied to the cost of power controllable costs, and these were roughly the numbers that were discussed with him.  


It was an informal conversation and it was to try to have a reasonability check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these numbers are not based on data that you have in your possession?


MS. LITT:  In the conversation, I was relying on the treasurer's expert knowledge.  But in the conversation, I didn't take the step of asking him to support any of the estimates that we were discussing.  I was relying on the expert knowledge.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know where the treasurer got these numbers from?


MR. HERMAN:  Our treasurer pays the power bills.  I'm sure he just looked at the previous power bills; and, our bills, they are very seasonal.  So I am assuming that is where it came from.


MR. WOLFF:  The 35 percent of 2 million would approximate the power bill on a monthly basis, depending on the time of the year, so the range from $35 million in a month of low consumption to $72 million in a month of high consumption.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of these look like guesses.  That is why I'm asking.  Like, if you have other regulated charges, low 9 million, high 18 million, that's not a coincidence.  Somebody said, Oh, it could be twice as much.  That's what it looks like to me.


MR. WOLFF:  You're saying 35 to 72 is just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know.  I'm saying, What is the backup for it?


MR. WOLFF:  The backup is the power bill.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The difference between the number that you're -- the rate base amount that you are asking for, which is right at the high end of this range, and the number that -- the only good lead lag study that has been recently done says 11.6 percent, 22 million which would put you right in the middle of this range.  So we're trying to drive towards, you know, what is the basis on which you have this higher number, and is it in fact justified by your data?


So, okay, so the second part of this question, I guess, is:  Can you provide the monthly chart that we have asked for on these numbers?  These are just actuals, right, so, as you say, you know what your power bill is every month.  The other regulated charges, what is that?


MS. LITT:  That would be -- it would be the transmission charges, wholesale market service charges, our -- sorry, remote and rural rate protection, components of uplift.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  So those are the two big numbers.  If you could just chart those on a monthly basis, and then we can see what your pattern is.


MR. MORAN:  JTA.25 is an undertaking to provide a monthly breakdown of cost of power and other regulated charges?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.25:  TO PROVIDE A MONTHLY BREAKDOWN OF COST OF POWER AND OTHER REGULATED CHARGES FOR HISTORIC, BRIDGE AND TEST YEAR


MR. MORAN:  Over what period of time?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The historic, bridge, and test.


MS. LITT:  So for the bridge where we've got ten months, but for the test?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have the forecast?


MS. LITT:  We don't have the bills.  Sorry, did you want this based on actual data?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want actuals to date and forecasts for the rest, but if you don't have the forecast, that's fine.


MS. LITT:  I'm not sure if -- I would have to go back and find out if it is done on a monthly basis, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If it is not, then we will just take the actuals.


Then there are two -- no, three, three other answers that you have raised, one relating to our e-mail of November 16th, and the first is -- this is related to your plans for reducing bad debt.


Your answer -- tell me if this is correct.  Your answer is basically, We bought the Cooper (ph.) system and we're going to employ it; is that right?


MR. BONADIE:  Sorry, I didn't hear.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have actions planned to reduce your bad debt; right, to improve your collections?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have given us a detailed answer, but I take it the short answer is you've gone and bought the Cooper software system and, by implementing that, you expect that to reduce your costs?


MR. BONADIE:  As I understand it, it is an upgrade.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes?


MR. BONADIE:  So it's not a purchase.  The $40,000 is an upgrade to the existing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes.  Okay, okay.  So I don't need to ask you anything more about that.  And then Schools question 22, if I can find it, gave us a whole lot of data.  I remember this.  It gave us a whole lot of data on the weather forecasting methodology.  I have no idea what you are talking about there.  I read it through and I have seen lots of weather methodologies.  I have no idea how it works.  Can you give us a brief summary of how this weather forecasting methodology works?


[Panel confers]


MR. MORAN:  The person I guess who would be more than happy to give you a very detailed seminar on the methodology is not here today.  The person who would give you the seminar on this is not here today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Might I suggest that I can leave this question for now and we don't need an undertaking, but during the course of the ADR, if that person could come in for an hour and tell us how this works?  I'm not the only one that is confused with it.


I sense that some of you guys don't exactly have the details down pat either.


MR. WOLFF:  Not the details.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be helpful if you could do that just on an informal basis.


MR. MORAN:  I guess we can schedule something to deal with this, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the last thing was question 35.  And this is Exhibit J, schedule D, page 49.  This is distribution system performance of Canadian electrical utilities, CEA document.  This is not the same as the MEARIE document, right?  This is different.  Right?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your answer to that is that that is confidential information.  All right?  So I am wondering if what you could do is the same as we dealt with the MEARIE material, and that is take a look at it and see if there is some way you can provide us with some sanitized version of it, or some way of getting this information in so that we can look at it.  Do you mind?


MR. MORAN:  We can give the same undertaking with respect to this report, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. MUKHERJI:  That will be JTA.26. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.26:  [DESCRIPTION NOT SPECIFIED]


MR. SHEPHERD:  You will be pleased to know, I have no more questions.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  I think it is probably an opportune time to take a short break.  If we can reconvene here in ten minutes or so, and the Board questions will probably take an hour after that.


--- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:17 p.m.

Further questions by Mr. Faye


MR. FAYE:  We will reconvene the technical conference now.  We will reconvene.


I am going to start with just a follow-up question on something Mr. Shepherd asked, and it has to do with question 50 and this criteria of 300 amps per feeder in order to be able to transfer load conveniently.  


I just want to clarify.  Three hundred amps on a 

27.6 feeder would be how many MVA, just off the top of your head?  Does 15 ring a bell?


MR. HERMAN:  I wouldn't want to guess.  I get 14,324 kilowatts.


MR. FAYE:  For the sake of argument, can we assume 15 is probably the target?


The question I want to ask is:  When I look in your system planning documents, I find a reference to 26.7 feeder being capable of 22 MVA, which would be more than 300 amps, and I just wondered if you could elaborate a little bit on, is there a different planning criteria for subtransmission feeders?  Is there some other explanation I am not seeing here?  


MR. HERMAN:  When we say 300, that's the general thing.  The engineers know the kind of things you're asking about.  As they're making their decisions, they consider what that feeder can hold and what it has -- what it has done and what percentage of time it actually goes over, because that destroys the life of the feeder.


So I say 300; that is in general.  That is a simplistic thing.  You keep it at half so you can transfer load, but, you know, there may be more precise numbers that they work with.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So what I hear you saying is if you do say go to 22 MVA, and that sounds like it is 50 percent greater than -- so 450 amps, say, then you would not be in the same flexible position to transfer load.  Should that feeder fail, for any reason, you would just -- you wouldn't be able to shift all of that load on to an adjacent feeder or back-to-back feeder at a station, for instance?


MR. HERMAN:  That's right.  And then there would be an outage. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I guess I'm still struggling with a planning concept that deliberately plans to put more than 300 amps on a feeder and an operating concept that says we won't exceed 300 amps.


MR. HERMAN:  Our whole philosophy is to have redundancy in our system, that if we lose a feeder, we can switch.  Whatever it takes to make that happen, our engineers have to plan the system to be able to do that.


MR. FAYE:  I wonder what the implications, though, in a system planning sense is.  If your engineers are planning for 22 MVA per feeder, does that not translate into a capital program to supply the number of feeders you need to supply your gross load?


So would you not be building too few feeders if you were estimating 22 MVA and your system control operators were only allowing 15 MVA on the feeder?  There still seems to be a conflict here that system planning does not seem to be in sync with the operating procedures.


MR. HERMAN:  I don't quite know how to answer that.  I think they know what we need, what we're attempting to achieve, and I guess I could get more of an explanation from...


MR. FAYE:  I wonder if it would be useful just to check the system planning consideration to see if it is correct.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  It could be a typo.  Would you undertake to check that?


MR. HERMAN:  Sure.


MR. MORAN:  Could you just...


MR. FAYE:  That is that -- let me give you a reference, Pat.


MR. MORAN:  Exhibit C, schedule 4.


MR. FAYE:  I am looking at -- it's not marked on the exhibit.  It's the 2007 system capacity report.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. FAYE:  On page 5.


MR. MORAN:  That's Exhibit C, schedule 4, on page 5.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  You will see under 27.6 subtransmission, 26 operational supply feeders with a total capacity of 572 MVA.  I have only divided one number by the other to come up with the 22.


A similar situation occurs at 44, 41 supply feeders for a total capacity of 1435 MVA; divide one by the other, you get 35, but when you flip to --


MR. MORAN:  You want to know if the fact that there is a total capacity set out here, whether that limits the ability to operate it with the kind of flexibility that was described earlier?


MR. FAYE:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Right, okay.


MR. FAYE:  Or is there an error in the submission?


MR. MORAN:  Or whether there is a difference between total capacity and the capacity at which it is operated, ultimately?


MR. FAYE:  Fair enough.  All right, turning back to Board Staff technical questions, I left off on the rolling stock questions.  Now we are on Board Staff Technical Conference Question No. 4, integration of the GIS and SCADA.  We will note that a written response has been provided there.


I just wanted to get some elaboration on a couple of points.  In your response to 4(a), you say that if you do get this integrated system, you will be able to eliminate the swing board maps.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  


MR. FAYE:  These are the maps on which operators put coloured pins in to tell you what switches are open.


At the moment -- and the reason you can eliminate them, I understand, is that you're going to have an A and B integrated system, both updated in real time, so if one server fails, the other server picks up.


I just wanted to ask you, your current SCADA system would have an A and B, as well, would it?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Yet you maintain the system paper board maps.  Do you maintain those maps just for the stuff that is not on the SCADA, say, small distribution feeders in a neighbourhood that doesn't show up on your SCADA because it's not calling back any analogues?


MR. HERMAN:  It's more the SCADA is -- SCADA is a switching type of thing.  It controls -- it opens and closes a switch.  It has information on that, but it doesn't show sort of the full schematic, you know, the city.


Our control room operators need to see the full picture, what is connected to what and how they have reconfigured that system within the city.


You don't get a good view of that on SCADA.  So they work with their maps or, in fact, with paper and pencils.  The last time when we were peaking in 2006, they were drawing pictures, actually, knowing they were going to be in trouble, and they have to do a significant amount of reconfiguration of the system.


Hydro One asked them to drop load, because one of the transformer stations was overheating.  So they're looking at a whole schematic of the city and looking at how they can switch things around.  To do that, you really need more of a mapping tool than just a pure SCADA.  An integrated model will have all of that together.


MR. FAYE:  So if I went into your control room right now, would I see a big panel board with lights on it indicating status of the main express feeder switches and your station switches, things of that nature?


MR. HERMAN:  No.  You would see a computer on people's desks so they could see specifics of a certain switch that they're working on, and then you would see great big paper maps with coloured pins in them.


MR. FAYE:  The stuff that is on the computer screen, is that only the stuff that is interrogated by the SCADA?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  So that is your main motorized switches, but none of the manually operated switches?


MR. HERMAN:  That's right.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.  The GIS system, that's incorporated with the SCADA.  I understand right now that your SCADA polls the system periodically and back come -- load passes certain points, wherever you have sensors out there.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  But for much of your system, of course, you wouldn't have those sensors, would you?


MR. HERMAN:  That's right.


MR. FAYE:  Could you describe how the GIS system is going to allow you to model how much load will be transferred if your SCADA system isn't measuring the load out there right now?


MR. HERMAN:  Well, as part of it, to get it to its ultimate state, you have to do more -- you would have to give more data from the field for it.  But the system, at least the SCADA knows what it is connected to.  You know, on most of the feeders, it would at least know where this thing goes and where it is connected to, because right now it is not a full operating model.  All it knows is there is a switch and it's opened and closed.


But in this system, it would know how many customers are on it and what load is on it, so even some -- or what load it typically has.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that is where I am going with this.  The load it typically has: how does the computer arrive at that number?  Does it add up the transformers connected to that part of the network and add up the installed capacity and then factor it by some sort of thing to recognize they're not all loaded right up to the nameplate rating, and then say that is what would ordinarily be on there?  Or is it some historical data that is input to the machine periodically?


MR. HERMAN:  It might be a little of each, initially, and then one day you would have more remote, you know, monitoring out in the field, and it's getting live data for everything.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it sounds to me that in addition to -- its two and some odd millions here for this integration, does that include the cost of installing a whole bunch of new sensors out in the field, in order to get real time data back from these feeders that aren't presently monitored?


MR. HERMAN:  Not a whole bunch.  We try to do a reasonable amount each year, but that would be a further phase to this.  It's actually in, you have it operating at least in its basic state, and then you start building on it to get, to capitalize on its full functionality.  There is a lot of other things it can do also that we won't be doing initially, such as GPS monitoring of our vehicles, to see who is the closest to, you know, the area of trouble and --


MR. FAYE:  Do you have any estimate of the cost of putting in the sensors that are necessary to send back to your SCADA system data on these feeders that will now be part of your integrated system?


MR. HERMAN:  I don't have it here with me, no.


MR. FAYE:  I wonder if you would undertake to just provide us with a summary of the distribution work necessary to make this integrated model fully functional.


MR. MUKHERJI:  That will be JTA 28.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.28:  TO provide a summary of the distribution work necessary to make THe integrated model fully functional


MR. FAYE:  Another question that came to mind is that -– and this is in the context of the two and some million, 2.2 million, say, it is.  It's a lot of money.  I wonder if the benefits are largely sort of soft benefits?  What I have heard you say is improvements in reliability because switching errors won't be made; improvements in safety, because your work protection code won't be violated by pins falling out of maps, and operators making mistakes.


Is there any prospect that by putting in a two-and-a-half-million-dollar system, you would be able to reduce your control room staff?


MR. HERMAN:  That's where I have the difficulty.  It is primarily soft, although we would be on the lookout for potential savings.  But our control room staff is not large.  There are times that, at the most, we have three control room operators, and the least we have is one, you know, in the night shift.


So with those kinds of numbers, it's kind of hard.  You can't send the night guy home because he is the only one there.  If you send -- even when you have three, if you reduce by one, they have a lot of other things to do, particularly when a big outage is occurring.  The phones are ringing.  In some cases, councillors even need to be called.  Crews are being called out.  They have a standby list and they have to just start calling everybody.


So they're trying to do a lot of things during, you know, a time of crisis, so it's kind of hard, but all you can do is go from three to two and even that is getting risky.  To some extent, you may be undoing some of the safety benefits that you got from the system.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So you don't anticipate any manpower savings, is what I think I heard you say?


MR. HERMAN:  No.  I find it hard to believe there can be any kind of substantial savings.  There might be --


MR. FAYE:  You have previously, I think, answered one of Mr. Shepherd's questions on reliability, that you're one of the most reliable utilities around.


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  I wonder, in the context of that statement, whether spending $2-1/2 million to improve reliability is really a necessity or -- maybe I will pose that question differently.


Do other utilities of comparable size to you have plans to do the same?  Or have some of them already done this kind of integration?


MR. HERMAN:  Some have done this type of thing in slightly different versions of it.  But I think this is the trend now, that utilities will be going to this, and to some extent it is being led by larger utilities and that is what it is making it possible to get good integrated operating systems, because some of the big companies in the United States are, in a sense, funding them.


Texas Utilities, for example, is putting in what I have heard is the best integrated operating system, and so everything they learn from putting that one in and the tremendous amount of money that is spent there will then be available for smaller utilities.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think just a last question I would like to draw out is, we have talked about your reliability and it's good.  Your safety record: how does that compare with other utilities?


MR. HERMAN:  Again, we have one of the best safety records.


MR. FAYE:  So the kind of marginal improvements in safety because of this system, we're not going to see radical improvements in safety?


MR. HERMAN:  No, no.


MR. FAYE:  That's all I had on that subject.  The next one is number 5.  It has to do with operating costs.  Your response is that you are unable to provide a written response due to limited time and resources.


Perhaps I will just read the question in:

"Please provide specific confirmation that the only distribution expenses it incurs through the purchase of services or products that are done through Enersource Corporation, as stated in the response, and that Enersource Hydro Mississauga itself does not contract directly with any third parties for any such services, e.g. consulting services, including maintenance services, et cetera.  Enersource Hydro Mississauga does incur costs for any such services directly.  Please provide the information requested."


The first thing, first part of that question says do you get all of your service on those kind of things provided through the parent quoting company.


MR. HERMAN:  Hydro Mississauga does not have a purchasing department, therefore we have no ability to purchase.  We get our purchases done through the corporate office.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So I think the response is there is no direct contracting from Hydro Mississauga to any third party?


MR. WOLFF:  May I just clarify just a little bit?  In the context that Enersource Corporation does have a purchasing department, but it's the purchasing department that may cut a purchase order on behalf of Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  


So Enersource Hydro Mississauga will, in fact, purchase goods and services from external parties directly.  It's only the staff of the Enersource Corporation that would actually issue the purchase order.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, in that sense, it's just a paper transaction from the holding company, and it is really the distribution company contracting with third parties.


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. FAYE:  Are you able to provide the written information that has been requested in this?


MR. HERMAN:  That's really everything.


MR. WOLFF:  Because it's actually more of a system limitation.  We have attempted to pull together all of the external purchases from, specifically, from Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


Due to the set-up of our system and the way it purchases through vendors, some of our vendors provide services for the corporation, some vendors provide services to an unregulated company, and then we have many vendors that provide services to the Hydro, but our system can't decipher between which actual expenditures are being provided by each supplier for each company.  It's actually a system limitation that we can't provide the report.


MR. FAYE:  Can it be attacked from the back end?  For instance, who pays the invoice to the vendor?  Is it Hydro Mississauga or is it Enersource Corp.?


MR. WOLFF:  Well, if the service is specifically for Enersource Hydro Mississauga, the payment comes from Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. FAYE:  So is your cost accounting system able to list out all vendor payments?


MR. WOLFF:  We can pull it invoice by invoice, which would be an extensive amount of data.


MR. FAYE:  No facility for an online enquiry to pick up all vendor payments, as opposed to in-house manpower?


MR. WOLFF:  And that's what we tried to do, was actually look at the vendors and try to segregate the purchases of each vendor from each company, and that's where we have run into the technical limitation.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can you extract a sum total of all vendor costs added together, without distinguishing between individual ones?  Does your machine have that capability?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes. 


MR. FAYE:  Could you undertake to provide that?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING:  [UNNUMBERERED, NOT SPECIFIED]


MR. FAYE:  A total of all third party vendor transactions, dollar total, for 2007.


MR. WOLFF:  Again, just for clarification, that would include all purchases for all companies?


MR. FAYE:  No.  Just for EHM, just for the distribution company.


MR. WOLFF:  That's the limitation I'm talking about, in that the vendors, it is J.D. Edwards that we're using for out accounting and payables and that sort.  We don't set up the vendors specifically for each company.  So what may happen is the system can't decipher between a Hydro vendor, a Corp. vendor and a non-regulated service vendor.  


What happens is, if we go into the vendor files and try to pull it out by payments, what happens is the system just assumes all companies.  And that's the technical limitation that we're looking at.


MR. FAYE:  I understand now.  You have one computer system used by not only the distribution company, but the holding company?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  And the affiliates that might be active?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  You have different GLs?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes, we do.


MR. FAYE:  Can your machine sort by GL?


MR. WOLFF:  We can definitely sort by GL.


MR. FAYE:  Would that be a big chore to tell it which GLs to look at for the distribution?


MR. WOLFF:  That would be an incredible amount of data, a large amount.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  We will pass on that for the moment and see if we can think of a different way getting at this one. 


Technical Question No. 6 has to do with the management fee and you filed what looked to be appropriate documents.  They haven't been analyzed by Board Staff yet, but I think we will just pass that one by.


No. 7 is to do with Interrogatory No. 25 of the Board Staff, and that is a corporate cost allocation question.  You filed a written response to that that will be analyzed by Board Staff, so we will pass that one by.


No. 8, compliance with the EDR 2006 decision, and this one you haven't provided a written response.  I think it is worth reading this onto the record. 


The question is:

"The Board's Decision and Order relating to Enersource's rate application for rates effective May 1st, 2006 stated, in part, where affiliate transactions were concerned that the applicant has presented its information clearly and has been helpful in its responses to interrogatories, but the record is still not at a satisfactory level.  In future, further information will be required concerning the costs for services provided by the parent company via the management fee and how these costs relate to other costs shown elsewhere in the application, for example, in schedule 6-4, 6-5 and 6-6.

"Schedule 6-4, 6-5 and 6-6 were, respectively, employee compensation, employee incentive plan expense and homeowners pension expenses and post-retirement benefits.  It would be helpful if Enersource would discuss the information it is providing in this proceeding in the context of this aspect of the Board's decision and whether or not Enersource believes that it would need to provide any additional information to meet this requirement, and, if so, how Enersource intends to provide it, and, if not, why Enersource believes the information it has filed in this proceeding meets the requirements stated by the Board." 


That is quite a large question.  I think we would appreciate hearing some response to it, other than, Well, we can't file the information.  Is there prospects of filing the information?


MR. MORAN:  Peter, we're looking at Question No. 7 which -- where I think the company was trying to set out all of the things that it does in relation to that management fee.  So I guess the question back to you is:  What's added with respect to Question No. 8?  


We certainly understand your desire for an explanation on the management fee and what goes in and how things get allocated.  So to that extent, we could answer question 7.


MR. FAYE:  We're at a disadvantage, not having analyzed the answer to question 7.


MR. MORAN:  Which is why I raised it.


MR. FAYE:  If you are prepared to confirm that the data and narrative that's been submitted on that question adequately addresses the issues in question 8, we will be happy to pass that by for the moment.


MR. MORAN:  I guess all I'm suggesting is that when you look at 7, it may be that there may be some other questions you might have, but I'm not sure -- we're trying to understand -- like, for example, if you have a question relating to how the OMERS pension expense gets allocated, then there will be somebody here who can answer that, but that's probably been discussed in question 7. 


So the extract from the Board decision referred to three items, and I think those three items are covered in 7, based on the management fee, but we're in your hands on whether you need more information, that's all.  You said --


MR. FAYE:  I think until someone on Board Staff has a moment to analyze this, we really can't answer either.  So we will just reserve on Board Technical Question No. 8, and if we have further questions, it will come up in the ADR.


Technical Question No. 9, this concerns affiliate transactions.  What the Board asked for here was an overall roadmap, through its affiliate transactions, to demonstrate the costs are prudent.  Your response is that you are unable to respond because of limited time and resources.


Do you have a further opinion on this?


MR. HERMAN:  I can give you an overall picture of our corporate situation.  At one time, we were just Hydro; had one company.  But if you want to engage in any type of non-regulated activity, you, of course, need a separate company, an affiliate.  Then you are moving towards the structure of now needing a corporate office, because you have a number of companies.


And all you're really doing is taking people that were in the Hydro for many years.  It is our human resources department, our accounting department, our purchasing.  People have done the work for the Hydro, done it well, for many years.  You're just putting them in a corporate office.


Then you can share costs, because now each one doesn't have to hire human resource people and finance people and whatnot, and then they determine how those costs are pushed back into their respective companies for which they're performing services.


Our non-reg activity is very small.  I believe it is about 19 people.  They're essentially just doing street lighting and a bit of work for the airport.  There is not a lot activity there and it doesn't take a lot of the corporate resources.


So from where I sit and I watch this very carefully, I feel that the wires company is actually benefitting through this arrangement, because if that non-reg activity wasn't there, if they weren't picking up their share of the costs, it would all come to the wires company, and I would have a difficult time attempting to trim out an equivalent amount of money, because the little bit of work they do for the non-reg is sort of fractions of people.  


It would be hard to go to human resources, for example, and say, Well, you have 19 less people in the company now.  I want you to reduce your staff.


You would have that difficulty, whichever department you went to.  So this non-reg activity absorbs approximately $1.6 million of costs that, if it wasn't there, I would have a hard time dealing with that cost, because it would come back to the wires.


MR. FAYE:  So just so I am clear on how this is organized, the work that you say you have been doing for the airport authority, this is technical work?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  So you have a trades crew going out and doing something out there, doing some wiring or whatever?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Those fellows or women are EHM employees working on a contract job?


MR. HERMAN:  They're actually non-regulated employees.  We separated our employees.


MR. FAYE:  They are?


MR. HERMAN:  Yes.  The people that do street lighting, for example, they're employed in the non-reg company.


MR. FAYE:  Do they do any work for EHM?


MR. HERMAN:  No.


MR. FAYE:  So then I am confused.  If they are employed by an affiliate company and if the affiliate work disappears, why can't the affiliate company lay them off?


MR. HERMAN:  No.  Those people -- the people that do the direct work, yes, they would.  If the non-reg work suddenly stopped, if it wasn't profitable -- it isn't, but they would be gone.  But I'm saying the corporate office would still be there, because they didn't have to go out and staff --


MR. FAYE:  I misunderstood, then.  The 19 people were not the trades people.  They were the people in the corporate office.  Those 19 are going to be there regardless of whether you have affiliates --


MR. HERMAN:  It's the 19 that would disappear if there was no non-reg.  I'm saying that 19 has a fairly small effect on the corporate office, because the people in the corporate office are virtually --


MR. MACUMBER:  Sorry.  I think -- there's the Hydro wires company, there's the corporate office and then there is a non-regulated company.


In the corporate office, there is about 47 people that what he's saying is wouldn't go away if there was no non-regulated business.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I follow.  Thank you.  No. 10.  That one concerned Board Interrogatory No. 27, and you filed what looked to be appropriate response to that.


No. 11 regarding Board Interrogatory No. 27, employee compensation, you filed what looks to be appropriate written response.


No. 12, variance analysis of your OM&A costs and, in particular, pension benefit.  You filed a written response to that.


No. 13 has to do with manpower controllable costs, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 31.  On this you provided a written response.  I have only one question on this, and it's more or less clarification of something that one of the previous examiners asked you.


It has to do with substation operations and this standby cost of 80,000.  This was I think employed to explain the variance between the 2006 actual and the 2007 forecast.


I just didn't understand what standby was, and why it costs $80,000.  I wonder if you can just --


MR. MACUMBER:  Really, it was an added weekend shift for the full year.  It really should have been divided between three business units.  Under the time that I had, I had the dollar figure and I put it under substations, but it is really in three different departments, to cover outages, et cetera, for the full year to have full 24-hour coverage.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  When you say 24-hour coverage, do you mean people on call, paid a certain amount to stay at home?  Don't go shopping, right, if we have an outage we can call and we know you're there, and then you come in and get paid whatever rate?


MR. MACUMBER:  That is my understanding.


MR. FAYE:  That is what standby, I thought, meant to me.


MR. MACUMBER:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. FAYE:  You don't presently have that?


MR. MACUMBER:  We do now.  We didn't in 2006, though.  We didn't have full 24-hour coverage.


MR. FAYE:  What did you have?


MR. HERMAN:  Well, there were just some gaps, and if the cost was on the weekends, for example, we didn't even have any trouble trucks at certain times.  You have a city like Mississauga, the sixth largest city in Canada, and there is nobody there.  The control room, they phone people, and in the past we were fortunate people would, you know, come in.  Some people like the overtime.  But those days are gone now.  We need a more formal process to ensure they're there, to have a trouble truck and to have people actually on standby where they must come in.


MR. FAYE:  The 80,000, if I hear you correctly, is not simply on-call pay.  It's not the amount you give a lineman a week to be on call for that week, $100, $150.  It also includes the costs of bringing a crew in during the weekend.  Not on call, but actually in there doing some work and available to answer trouble?  Is that right?


MR. MACUMBER:  That's my understanding.


MR. HERMAN:  We can double-check that.


MR. MACUMBER:  That was my understanding.


MR. FAYE:  I'm just wondering because 80,000 sounds like a lot for on call.


MR. MACUMBER:  It wasn't just for on call.  It was on call, trouble truck, everything to ensure 24-hour coverage.


MR. FAYE:  Could you undertake to double-check and split out what is the on call part of that and what is the weekend shift part of that?


MR. MUKHERJI:  Undertaking 29.  

UNDERTAKING NO. JTA.29:  TO double-check THE $80,000 FIGURE and split out the on-call PORTION and THE WEEKEND SHIFT


MR. FAYE:  Question 14 had to do with manpower controllable costs, and you have filed a written response to that.


15, same thing, controllable costs, and you filed a written response.


16, same, controllable costs and filed written response.


17, same, filed a written response.


18, management fees and recoveries from Staff Interrogatory No. 34, and you filed a written response.


19; this has to do with Board Interrogatory 41, concerning Smart Meters, and in your response on page 2, -- the numbers are at the bottom of the page that we're referring to – it's actually page 35 of 53.


The question was the net book value of each type of meter or class of meter.


I believe the intent was to get a dollar per customer number out of this, and the response is a total dollar figure.  I wonder if you could break that down and provide it.


MR. MACUMBER:  I'm sorry --


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, what do you want the company to do?  


MR. FAYE:  In the chart on page 35, two blocks down, net book value of each type of meter or class of meter.  What's been provided is a total dollar figure.  What Board would like to see is a per customer cost.


MR. MACUMBER:  We only calculated two different classes.  Due to the nature of meters and it's in a pooled asset, we only came up with two net book values per meters: one for residential and one for all other.


MR. FAYE:  But the residential would be the overwhelming majority of these?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Could you provide the residential per customer amount?


MR. MACUMBER:  For 2007, we're using $31 per meter.


MR. FAYE:  Thirty-one?


MR. BONADIE:  In the response there's an asterisk noting a note at the bottom, and I have referenced the Smart Meter hearing where we have provided this information.


MR. FAYE:  Oh, yes.


I think the difficulty is that that was an in camera decision, and in order to get any information on the record on that, we have to ask here.  We can't expect it to be released from a confidential hearing.  So if the $31 per meter is the appropriate figure that you are providing on this, I think that's fine.  What is missing, of course, is general service under 50 and general service over 50.


 MR. MACUMBER:  Again, due to the nature of meters; it's such a pooled asset, it is hard to break out the actual cost per customer class.  So we tried to estimate how much is residential, how much is all other.  So $31 was our estimated net book value for each meter removed from service in 2007, and $508 for any meter for any other class that would be removed.  However, Enersource has only been installing -- my understanding is -- residentials this year, anyway.  Right?


MR. WOLFF:  That's right.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  You're not taking out any interval meters?  The very large customers above 500 kilowatt would be on interval metering?


MR. HERMAN:  We have just done residential.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  I think that is good enough.


No. 20 you provided written response to.  That was to do with Board Interrogatory No. 49.  No. 21 to do with Board IR 50 and VECC No. 19, you provided written response.


No. 22, to do with Board Staff IR 48, you provided a written response.


No. 23, to do with Board Staff 48, you provided written response.


No. 24, to do with Board Staff IR 48, you provided written response.


No. 25, to do with Board Staff IR number 48, you provided a written response.


No. 26, to do with Board IR No. 48, you provided a written response.


No. 27, to do with Board IR 61, you provided a written response.


No. 28, to do with Board IR 63, you provided a written response.


No. 29 to do with Board IR No. 42, you provided a written response.


No. 30, to do with Board IR 44, you provided a written response.


No. 31, to do with Board Staff IR No. 45, you provided a written response.


No. 32, to do with Board Staff IR 47, you provided a written response.


And that brings us to the end of our questions.  So we did make it by 4 o'clock.  Thank you very much to all 

for -- Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I was just going through my questions and I think I missed one.  I think I missed number 39.


MR. MORAN:  Go for it, Jay.

Further questions by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  Since it was my favourite question of all of the questions.


MR. MORAN:  What's the reference, I'm sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is our written Question No. 39.  The reference is JA pages 55 to 58.  I will read the question.  You will have to undertake on it.  It's too complicated to do directly.

"On October 3rd, 2006 the Board approved an increase in 2006 rates of $1,130,601 and a resulting increase of $1,140,776 in 2007 due to the PBR structure on the basis that in 2004 the applicant had 38 vacant positions, rather than 15 as it normally would.  Please list the 38 positions vacant in 2004 with descriptions similar to ..."


The reference JA page 55.  

"Then advise when each was filled, when each became vacant again, if it did, and reconcile the total amount of $2,271,377 in incremental rates in 2006 and 2007 to the additional amounts expended on those new hires for those years.  If any of those hires are listed in pages 55 to 58, which is your current list of people you want to hire, please indicate, and if any of those hires, while not the same as those listed in those pages, but a similar position, name or function, please distinguish the old hire from the new hire."


So what we're trying to do is we're trying to track the $2.3 million you got to hire a bunch more people against the money you are asking for now to hire much more people to make sure you're not double counting.


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  In 2004, what we said was we were running at an unusual vacancy rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  Therefore, we had a hiring freeze.  We weren't hiring people.  They were actually positions that were approved at the time that, if they were vacated, we never filled them in 2004.  So at the end of 2004, they started filling those positions.


The 30 positions that are listed there are new positions from 2006 to 2008, so all the money that was requested in the 2004 EDR was for positions that were already approved in our internal budget, but we didn't fill them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am asking:  When did you fill them?


MR. MACUMBER:  Throughout 2004, 2005.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because my understanding is, in fact, many of them were not filled until 2006 and 2007, those 38 positions.


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  No, the 38 positions, my understanding was --


MR. MORAN:  I'm not giving evidence, but if you recall the way this came up in the 2006 proceeding, it was done as a tier one adjustment, because 2006 rates were going to be based on historical.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I remember.


MR. MORAN:  So the historical data was understated; the actuals were understated, and, therefore, the 2006 rates would be too low to reflect the actual staffing costs.  So it was a stand-alone one-time problem, which is separate from what's being proposed here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am asking the question is because my recollection of that was that in fact in 2006 those people had not already all been hired.  It was what you expected to be spending on that, but you hadn't yet.


MR. MORAN:  That's not what the record will show.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then your answer will be, Here's the 38 positions and they were filled in 2005.


MR. MORAN:  I think if you go back to that file, you will see exactly what was there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In which case the answer to the undertaking will be...


MR. MORAN:  We can file that filing, if you want, because that's really the answer, I guess.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I went back to it and -- because I was trying to understand how it tracked through.  You have added a lot of -- you have hired a lot of new people since 2004, right, lots, and you got an extra budget for some of them.


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  The money that was provided and the unusual vacancy rate were for positions that should have been there in 2004 that we had a hiring freeze and didn't hire.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you didn't have the people.  Then by 2006, you did have the people.  So you hired more people?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we hired positions that should have been there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


MR. MACUMBER:  But the positions that are here that have been listed going from 2006 to 2008 are brand new and not included in those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  The fact is you still hired a lot of people; right?


MR. MORAN:  I think you're asking for some kind of tracking, and I think what the witness is saying is they don't track.  They're two separate things.  You can't trace the positions from the tier one adjustment to these positions that are being dealt with in this application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In which case this tracking will show that.


What I am asking for is you said, We had 38 positions vacant in 2004 and we need some extra budget in 2006, because we're filling them or we have filled them.


So you can show that; right?  Here is those 38 positions and we filled them; right:  Here's how much they cost; right?


Then you can show these aren't the same positions as the 30 in this list that we want for 2008.


MR. MORAN:  We will try to figure out what we can do.  We can produce a table that will show that a number of those unfilled vacancies, you know, got filled over 2004 and 2005 and 2006, quite separately from what -- is that what you're looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You understand where I'm going with this?  As long as we can show that there is no double counting, I'm cool.


MR. MACUMBER:  Right, but...


MR. MUKHERJI:  That will be --


MR. MORAN:  I think I understand the question.


MR. MACUMBER:  No, but there is a --


MR. MORAN:  We will do our best to provide an answer based on what we think the question is, and I think we understand it.


The underlying concern is are we now seeking a rate -- is the company now seeking a rate increase that includes double funding for the same positions?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Got you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not suggesting they would do it intentionally, but sometimes these things happen.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. MACUMBER:  Could I just add one thing?


There is a chart where you had asked for a breakdown of our 2006 actual expenses and our 2006 EDR.  It will show you that manpower was even more than what was approved in our EDR in 2006. 


So we didn't get rates until May the 1st, but our actual manpower costs for 2006 was more than what was approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You actually didn't -- you didn't get your final rates until October.


MR. MACUMBER:  But it was still -- it was doubled for six months, so we still got the rate for our full rate year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Okay.


MR. FAYE:  Anything else?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do your best.  Thanks.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  

Then we will conclude the technical conference, with thanks to the court reporter.

Procedural matters


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, before we conclude, we should talk a little bit about process and timing tomorrow, and how it relates to timing and delivery of undertaking responses and so on.


We had a chance to briefly caucus on this.  I guess we're up to 30 undertakings, and I guess we will do our best to deliver what we can.  We will do some kind of triage, as well, to make sure we can get as many that might be relevant for the purposes of ADR.  


But I wanted to throw out this idea, at least, that where you have asked us for -- for example, Jay, you have asked for a number of calculations.  I think we understand the issue you're getting at, and it seems to me that there's two aspects to it.  There will be a principle that you may well want to discuss in the context of the ADR as a way of dealing with particular issues.  You may not need the precise number.  


In fact, if we don't agree to the principle, we may not be that interested in rushing the number, you know, for the purposes of tomorrow morning, because -- so if you were agreeable to that approach, in principle, I think it is workable.  If we can get a ballpark estimate that's workable at least for the purposes of discussion, then, you know, if there is settlement, then that's great.  If there isn't, you will still want the information.  We understand that.  But if we could organize it in that way, I think that would help us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that is no problem.  The intervenors have been talking about a possible settlement offer, which we haven't finalized, but we have been circulating information and calculating things and stuff like that.


What we hope is that we can spend the first couple of hours tomorrow morning, the intervenors talking amongst ourselves, to see if we can have a common position for an offer for you.  So we don't need any of this material for that, because we have a pretty good idea of what the numbers are going to be.  We will need the exact numbers at some point, but we don't need them yet.


Once we have been able to give you that offer, then we will have to see procedurally, do we stay and talk about other things, do you go away and think about the offer and all of that stuff.


That will also give you some time to be answering IRs.


MR. MORAN:  So the next question then is, what time do you want us to show up tomorrow?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm thinking maybe 11.  Is that -- what do you think?


MR. ADAMS:  Do you guys have office space here?


MR. MORAN:  No.  We're not Hydro One.  We're not Enbridge.


MR. ADAMS:  Well, I'm just asking, because it is very convenient if you can just -- if you have some someplace to work while we discuss, because there are a lot of people that are going to be in this negotiation that are not here right now, and we're making -- you know, you have asked for advice.


MR. MORAN:  Maybe, Mr. Mukherji, I don't know if there are rooms available.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a room down the hall?


MR. MORAN:  We have used the library in the past, I guess, but it is not always practical.


MR. MUKHERJI:  I can't recall if the hearing is going on in the north hearing room, but we should be able to find you a room.  I'm sure a meeting room somewhere.


MR. MORAN:  What about this room?


MR. MUKHERJI:  We have the ADR rooms next door.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You can hear through the wings, so, no.  


MR. MORAN:  I have never heard anything, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


MR. MUKHERJI:  I guess you guys look around.  I will try to find a meeting room for you.  If I can't find it on the 25th, I will find one on the 24th floor.


MR. MORAN:  Are we meeting in this room for the ADR itself or are we using the ADR room?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is this room.


MR. MUKHERJI:  It is probably this room.  It just jumps around from room to room each of the days, actually.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We will know by the sign tomorrow morning.


MR. MUKHERJI:  I didn't want to say that, but I guess.


MS. GIRVAN:  Eleven o'clock sounds reasonable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Julie can't be here until 9:30, so we are going to start, but until she gets here I think we're not going to be able to resolve this.


MR. MORAN:  We will aim for eleven o'clock tomorrow morning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MUKHERJI:  I will try to find you a room.


MR. FAYE:  Anything else?


MR. MORAN:  I think we have a plan.


MR. FAYE:  We are finished.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:10 p.m.  
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